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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 205495

FORM 10-K
ANNUALREPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013
or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-13879

INNOSPEC INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

DELAWARE 98-0181725
State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization Identification No.)
8310 South Valley Highway

Suite 350

Englewood

Colorado 80112

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (303) 792 5554
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(bhefAct:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
N/A N/A
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:  Common stock, par value $0.01 per share
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.

Yes O No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding
12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted
and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
submit and post such files).

Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to ltem 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to
the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of
“large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated file [ Accelerated filel
Non-accelerated file O (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).

Yes O No
The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of the most recently completed second fiscal quarter (June
30, 2013) was approximately $515 million, based on the closing price of the common shares on the NASDAQ on June 30, 2013. Shares of common stock held by each officer

and director and by each beneficial owner who owns 5% or more of the outstanding common stock have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed to be affiliates.
This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for any other purpose.

As of February 6, 2014, 24,346,553 shares of the registrant’s common stock were outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of Innospec Ir's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stoddters to be held on May 7, 2014 are incorporatecegrence into Part 11l of this Form -K.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT RELATIVE TO FORWARD-LOOKING ST ATEMENTS
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains certain “forward-lookingt&ments” within the meaning of the Private Semgikitigation
Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than sterts of historical facts included or incorporatedein may
constitute forward-looking statements. Such forwlaaking statements include statements (covereddoys like
“expects,” “estimates,” “anticipates,” “may,” “beles” or similar words or expressions), for exampleich relate to
operating performance, events or developmentsatbaxpect or anticipate will or may occur in theufe (including,
without limitation, any of the Company’s guidanoceréspect of sales, gross margins, pension lissiland charges, net
income, growth potential and other measures ohfire performance). Although forward-looking statats are
believed by management to be reasonable when rieyeare subject to certain risks, uncertaintiesassumptions,
and our actual performance or results may diffetenmly from these forward-looking statements. Yare urged to
review our discussion of risks and uncertainties tould cause actual results to differ from fomvkroking statements
under the heading “Risk Factors.” The Company ua#tes no obligation to publicly update or revisg torward-
looking statements, whether as a result of newmnéion, future events or otherwise.
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PART I
ltem 1 Business

When we use the terms the “Corporation,” “CompafiRggistrant,” “we,” “us” and “our,'we are referring to Innosp
Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (“Innosperiless otherwise indicated or the context othernagjuires.

General

Innospec develops, manufactures, blends, markdtswgplies fuel additives, oilfield chemicals, peral care and
fragrance ingredients and other specialty chemi€als products are sold primarily to oil refineripgrsonal care and
fragrance companies, and other chemical and industrmpanies throughout the world. Our fuel adeisi help
improve fuel efficiency, boost engine performannd eeduce harmful emissions. Our oilfield spea@sltousiness
supplies drilling and production chemicals whichkeaaxploration and production more cost-efficiemd anore
environmentally-friendly. Our other specialty cheais provide effective technology-based solutia@rsoiir customers’
processes or products focused in the Personal Balgners; and Fragrance Ingredients markets.

Our principal executive offices are in Englewooa)d@ado. We became an independent company on Mal/Q&3,
when we were spun off from our then parent comgargat Lakes Chemical Corporation (which subsequdritame
Chemtura Corporation). We changed our name fronel@zrp. to Innospec Inc. on January 30, 2006.urmon
stock is listed on the NASDAQ under the symbol “RD'S

Segmental Information

Innospec divides its business into three segmentmi&nagement and reporting purposes:
* Fuel Specialties (including Oilfield Specialtie
» Performance Chemica
* Octane Additive:

The Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals eeignoperate in markets where we actively seektfyrow
opportunities although their ultimate customersdifierent. The Octane Additives segment is gemerddaracterized
by volatile and declining demand. For financiabimhation about each of our segments, see Notal8dflotes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fuel Specialties

Our Fuel Specialties segment develops, manufactolesds, markets and supplies a range of speahéynical
products used as additives to a wide range of .fiiélsse fuel additive products help improve fuéitefncy, boost
engine performance and reduce harmful emissiortsaenused in the efficient operation of automgtiaarine and
aviation engines, power station generators, antifgeand diesel particulate filter systems. OurlFSgecialties
segment also includes our activities in OilfielceSialties.
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During 2013, we completed the acquisition of Bachr8arvices, Inc., Specialty Intermediates, IncgHdaan
Production Specialties, Inc. and Bachman Drilling?&&duction Specialties, Inc. (collectively “Bachmijato add to our
2012 acquisition of Strata Control Services, Ifitrata”) to further build-out our presence in @ilfl Specialties.

In addition to these acquisitions, the segmenighaa&n organically through our development of newdurcts to addre
what we believe are the key drivers in demanddet &dditives. These drivers include increaseddamufuel econom
changing engine technology and legislative develams We have devoted substantial resources towaeds
development of new and improved products that neayded to improve fuel efficiency.

Our customers in this segment include nationat@mpanies, multinational oil companies, oil and ggsloration
companies and fuel retailers.

Performance Chemicals

Our Performance Chemicals segment provides effetdiohnology-based solutions for our customersgsees or
products focused in the Personal Care; PolymesFaagrance Ingredients markets.

In 2013, we acquired Chemsil Silicones, Inc. (“Ckéipand Chemtec Chemical Co. (“Chemtec”). Thesguasitions
have added new products and technology to the Rar§are business within our Performance Chemgsdsent, as
well as providing an enhanced sales infrastrudtuserve the important West Coast U.S. market.

This segment has also grown organically, throughdiavelopment and marketing of innovative prodtecthe personal
care industry. The focus for our Performance Chalsisegment is to develop high performance produmts its
technology base in a number of targeted markets.

Our customers in this segment include large muibnal companies, manufacturers of personal cadehansehold
products and specialty chemical manufacturers dipgran niche industries.

Octane Additives

Our Octane Additives segment, which we believéésworld’s only producer of tetra ethyl lead (“TELtomprises
sales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline anditrgin respect of our environmental remediatiosibess. We are
continuing to responsibly manage the decreasecisdles of TEL for use in automotive gasolinene Mith the
remaining countries’ transition plans to unleadadadine. Cost improvement measures continue takentto respond
to declining market demand.

Sales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline areanahcipally to state-owned refineries locatethiea Middle East
and Northern Africa. Our environmental remediatiusiness serves these customers to manage thelein
redundant plants as refineries complete the mowg dwem leaded gasoline.
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Strategy

Our strategy is to develop new and improved praxlant technologies to continue to strengthen asréase our
market positions within our Fuel Specialties (irtthg Oilfield Specialties) and Performance Chensic@gments. The
segments together have had average organic regeowéh of 5% per annum, and average operating iecgrawth of
9% per annum, since 2008. We also actively continwssess potential strategic acquisitions, pestiiegs and other
opportunities that would enhance and expand ouomes offering. We focus on opportunities that vebektend our
technology base, geographical coverage or prodartiofio. We believe that focusing on the Fuel Sakies (including
Oilfield Specialties) and Performance Chemicalsysags, in which the Company has existing experiegxgertise ar
knowledge, provides opportunities for positive retuon investment with reduced operating risk.

Geographical Area Information

Financial information with respect to our domesind foreign operations is contained in Note 3 eflflotes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Working Capital

The nature of our customers’ businesses generdilyires us to hold appropriate amounts of invenitoyrder to be
able to respond quickly to customers’ needs. Weethee require corresponding amounts of workingtehfor normal
operations. We do not, however, believe that thimaterially different to what our competitors @otl) the exception
of cetane number improvers, in which case we miaiigh enough levels of inventory, as requiredietiain our
position as market leader in sales of these prsjluct

The purchase of large amounts of some raw matdéaatsur Fuel Specialties and Octane Additives segsican create
some variations in working capital requirementd,thase are planned and well managed by the bigsines

We do not believe that our terms of sale, or tesfmurchase, differ markedly from those of our ceuitprs.
Raw Materials and Product Supply

We use a variety of raw materials and chemicasimmanufacturing and blending processes and leetleat sources
for these are adequate for our current operatidnsmajor purchases are cetane number improvetan®enhancer,
various solvents and ethylene.

These purchases account for a substantial portidredCompany’s variable manufacturing costs. Theaterials are,
with the exception of ethylene in Germany, readihailable from more than one source. Although ethglis, in theon
available from several sources, it is not permlssib transport ethylene by road in Germany. Assailt, we source
ethylene for our German operations via a directlpie from a neighboring site, making it effectivel single source.
Ethylene is used as a primary raw material in petgltepresenting approximately 7% of the Compasalss.
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We use long-term contracts (generally with fixedaymula-based costs) and advance bulk purchadsspoensure
availability and continuity of supply, and to maeéabe risk of cost increases. For some raw maseatal risk of cost
increases is managed with commodity swaps.

We continue to monitor the situation and adjustgocurement strategies as we deem appropriateCohgany
forecasts its raw material requirements substdyirmbdvance, and seeks to build long-term retesiops and
contractual positions with supply partners to saéd its raw material positions. In addition, then@pany operates an
extensive risk management program which seeksusdkey raw materials from multiple sources andeteelop
suitable contingency plans.

I ntellectual Property

Our intellectual property, including trademarkstgmas and licenses, forms a significant part ofGbenpany’s
competitive edge, particularly in the Fuel Spe@aland Performance Chemicals segments. The Congussynot,
however, consider its business as a whole to beramt on any one trademark, patent or license.

The Company has a portfolio of trademarks and psitéoth granted and in the application stage, mogeroducts an
processes in several jurisdictions. The majoritthese patents were developed by the Company abjcs to
maintenance obligations including the payment néweal fees, have at least 10 years life remaining.

The trademark “Innospec and the Innospec devic€lasses 1, 2 and 4 of the “International Classiitn of Goods
and Services for the Purposes of the Registrafidtaoks” are registered in all jurisdictions in whithe Company has
a significant market presence. The Company alsdrademark registrations for certain product names|
jurisdictions in which it has a significant markeesence

We actively protect our inventions, new technolsgend product developments by filing patent apgitieis and
maintaining trade secrets. In addition, we vigohppsurticipate in patent opposition proceedingsuacbthe world
where necessary to secure a technology base tn@eirifringement of our intellectual property.

Customers

In 2013, the Company had a significant customénénFuel Specialties segment, Royal Dutch Shelapttits affiliate
(“Shell”), which accounted for $83.1 million (10%)} our net group sales. In 2012 and 2011, Shebwaated for $82.9
million (11%) and $78.7 million (10%) of our netogip sales, respectively.

We have sales contracts with customers using fixddrmula-based prices, as appropriate, to mairdar gross
profits.
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Competition

Certain markets in which the Company operatesagst to significant competition. The Company cetes on the
basis of a number of factors including, but notitied to, product quality and performance, speaaiproduct lines,
customer relationships and service, and regulaodytoxicological expertise.

Fuel SpecialtiesThe Fuel Specialties market is generally fragmeataticharacterized by a small number of
competitors in each submarket. The competitoraaheubmarket differ with no one company holdirpainant
position in the Fuel Specialties market. Within heel Specialties market, the Oilfield Specialseb-market is very
fragmented — although there are a small numbeef large competitors, there are also a large nuwi&maller
players focused on specific technologies or regigves consider our competitive edge to be our praeehnical
development capacity, independence from majorariganies and strong long-term relationships witimeey
customers.

Performance ChemicalWe operate in three principal markets within Perfance Chemicals — Personal Care;
Polymers; and Fragrance Ingredients. The Persara @arket is highly fragmented, and the Compapgeances
substantial competition from a large number of mational and specialty chemical suppliers in egebgraphical
market. The Fragrance Ingredients and Polymersetsadce more concentrated, with a small numberio€ipal
competitors. Our competitive position in all threarkets is based on us supplying a superior, diversduct portfolio
which solves particular customer problems or enbaitice performance of new or existing products. fumber of
specialty chemicals markets, we also supply nicbduyrt lines, where we enjoy market-leading posgio

Octane AdditivesiWe believe our Octane Additives segment is the di®idnly producer of TEL and accordingly is the
only supplier of TEL for use in automotive gasoliide segment therefore competes with marketepsaofucts and
processes that provide alternative ways of enhgrmitane performance in automotive gasoline.

Research, Development, Testing and Technical Support

Research, product/application development and teahsupport (“R&D”) provide the basis for the gritwof our Fuel
Specialties (including Oilfield Specialties) andf®emance Chemicals segments. Accordingly, the Gomjs R&D
activity has been, and will continue to be, focusedhe development of new products and formulati@ur R&D
department provides technical support for all of @porting segments. Expenditures to support R&ivises were
$21.2 million, $19.6 million and $18.3 million 023, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

We believe that our proven technical capabilities/mle us with a significant competitive edge. hie tast three years,
the Fuel Specialties segment has developed newgdete cold flow, stabilizers, anti-foulants, lutity and combustion
improver products, in addition to the introductmimmany new cost effective fuel additive packagéss proven
technical capability has also been instrumentahiabling us to produce innovative new productsiwittur
Performance Chemicals segment including Isélux Statsafe® .
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Health, Safety and Environmental Matters

We are subject to environmental laws in the majasftthe countries in which we conduct businessnaggement
believes that the Company is in material compliamitk applicable environmental laws and has madenftessary
provisions for the continued costs of compliancthwenvironmental laws, including where appropredset retirement
obligations.

Our principal site giving rise to environmental efration liabilities is the Octane Additives maruitaing site at
Ellesmere Port in the United Kingdom, which managenbelieves is the last ongoing manufacturer df. TEhere are
also environmental remediation liabilities on a mgmaller scale in respect of our other manufaagusites in the U.S.
and Europe. At Ellesmere Port there is a continasgpt retirement program related to certain matwfag units that
have been closed. We regularly review the futupeeted costs of remediation and the current estimsaeflected in
Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finarsiatements

We recognize environmental liabilities when theg probable and costs can be reasonably estimaig@dsset
retirement obligations when there is a legal obliayaand costs can be reasonably estimated. Thadvies anticipating
the program of work and the associated future exrplemosts, and so involves the exercise of judgiemianagement.

The European Union legislation known as the Regfisin, Evaluation and Authorization of Chemical Stalnces
Regulations ("REACH?”) requires most of the Compangtoducts to be registered with the European Ctami
Agency. Under this legislation the Company hasamadnstrate that its products are appropriate far thtended
purposes. During this registration process, the o incurs expense to test and register its ptedilibe Company
estimates that the cost of complying with REACHI Wwé approximately $2 million over the next thremays.

Employees
The Company had approximately 1100 employees icoR@tries as at December 31, 2013.
Available Information

Our corporate web site is www.innospecinc.com. \Wkeravailable, free of charge, on or through thres site our
annual, quarterly and current reports, and any dments to those reports, as soon as reasonablycptde after
electronically filing such material with, or furhimg it to, the SEC.

The Company routinely posts important informationifivestors on its web site (under Investor Refe). The
Company uses this web site as a means of disclasategrial, non-public information and for complyingh its
disclosure obligations under SEC Regulation FDr(Basclosure). Accordingly, investors should montioe Investor
Relations portion of the Company’s web site, iniidd to following the Company’s press releasesCSiings, public
conference calls, presentations and webcasts.
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ltem 1A Risk Factors
The factors described below represent the principks$ associated with our business.

We are subject to extensive regulation of our international operations that could adversely affect our business and
results of operations.

Due to our global operations, we are subject toynaws governing international commercial activitgnduct and
relations, including those that prohibit impropayments to government officials, restrict where attth whom we cai
do business, and limit the products, software antriology that we can supply to certain countries@istomers.
These laws include but are not limited to, the B-&eign Corrupt Practices Act and United Kingdonb@ry Act, U.S
sanctions and assets control programs adminisbgrélte U.S. Department of the Treasury, and the &kfort control
laws such as the regulations under the U.S. Exfudmtinistration Act, as well as similar laws andukgions in other
countries relevant to our business operations.admhs of any of these laws or regulations, whiehaften complex in
their application, may result in criminal or cipiénalties that could have a material adverse efiectur results of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

We may not be able to consummate, finance or successfully integrate future acquisitions, partnerships or other
opportunitiesinto our business, which could hinder our strategy or result in unanticipated expenses and losses.

Part of our strategy is to pursue strategic actjois, partnerships and other opportunities to dempnt and expand
our existing business. The success of these tramsadepends on our ability to efficiently complétansactions,
integrate assets and personnel acquired in theasgairtions and apply our internal control process#dsese acquired
businesses. Consummating acquisitions, partnershipther opportunities and integrating an acqoisiinvolve
considerable expenses, resources and managemergdimmitments, and our failure to effect thesentended could
result in unanticipated expenses and losses. Rgsisition integration may result in unforeseeticlifities and may
deplete significant financial resources that cailterwise be available for the ongoing developnoemixpansion of
existing operations. Furthermore, we may not redlie benefits of an acquisition in the way weapéted when we
first entered the transaction. Any of these risisld adversely impact our results of operatiomgricial position and
cash flows.

Competition and market conditions may adversely affect our operating results.

In certain markets, our competitors are larger tand may have greater access to financial, tdofpical and other
resources. As a result, competitors may be bdblerta adapt to changes in conditions in our indesst fluctuations in
the costs of raw materials or changes in globahecoc conditions. Competitors may also be abletmduce new
products with enhanced features that may causelméeé the demand and sales of our products. dmaion of
customers or competitors, or economic problemsusfaners in our markets could cause a loss of mhahae for our
products, place downward pressure on prices, raspiiyment delays or non-payment, or decliningniplailization
rates. These risks could adversely impact our tesfiloperations, financial position and cash flows

10
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We could be adversely affected by technological changesin our industry.

Our ability to maintain or enhance our technoloboagpabilities, develop and market products andiegippons that
meet changing customer requirements, and succlysafticipate or respond to technological changes cost effectiv
and timely manner will likely impact our future liisss success. We compete on a number of frortgding, but not
limited to, product quality and performance. In tase of some of our products, our competitordaager than us and
may have greater access to financial, technologicdlother resources. Our inability to maintaiechhological edge,
innovate and improve our products could cause bngein the demand and sales of our products, dmdraely impact
our results of operations, financial position aadlcflows.

Our reliance on a small number of significant customers may have a material adverse impact on our results of
operations.

Our principal customers are major multinational atate-owned oil companies, and large multinatiomahufacturers
of personal care and household products. Thesatinelsiare characterized by a concentration olvddege
participants. The loss of a significant customanaderial reduction in demand by a significant oosgr or termination
or nonfenewal of a significant customer contract couldeaisely impact our results of operations, finanp@gition anc
cash flows.

We may be required to make additional cash contributionsto our United Kingdom defined benefit pension plan and
recognize greater pension charges.

Movements in the underlying plan asset value angeBted Benefit Obligation (“PBO9f our United Kingdom define
benefit pension plan are dependent on actual retuinvestments as well as our assumptions in cegfiehe discount
rate, annual member mortality rates, future returmssets and future inflation. A change in anyafrteese
assumptions could impact the plan asset value, &Rpension charge recognized in the income statethéuture
plan investment returns prove insufficient to mfe@ire obligations, or should future obligationsriease due to
actuarial factors or changes in pension legislativen we may be required to make additional casitributions. Thes
events could adversely impact our results of opmrsaf financial position and cash flows.

Our success depends on our management team and other key personnel, the loss of any of whom could disrupt our
business operations.

Our future success will depend in substantial parthe continued services of our senior manageriéetloss of the
services of one or more of our key executive pareboould affect implementation of our businessi@ad result in
reduced profitability. Our future success also aejseon the continued ability to attract, retain amativate highly-
gualified technical, sales and support staff. Wench guarantee that we will be able to retain ay gersonnel or
attract or retain qualified personnel in the futufeve are unsuccessful in our efforts in thisarel this could adversely
impact our results of operations, financial positemd cash flows.

11
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Continuing adverse global economic conditions could materially affect our current and future businesses.

The ongoing concern about the stability of globarkets generally and the strength of counterpairiarticular has
led many lenders and institutional investors taioeg or cease to provide, credit to businesses@amslimers. These
factors have led to a substantial and continuirgyedese in spending by businesses and consumera,amcesponding
decrease in global infrastructure spending whiakliccaffect our business. Global economic factofsciihg our
business include, but are not limited to, mileseini by passenger and commercial vehicles, legslati control fuel
quality, impact of alternative propulsion systecmsumer demand for premium personal care and d¢mspneducts,
and oil and gas drilling and production rates. @failability, cost and terms of credit have beex may continue to
be, adversely affected by the foregoing factorstarde circumstances have produced, and may ftilme result in,
illiquid markets and wider credit spreads, whichymaake it difficult or more expensive for us to aibt credit.
Continued turbulence in the U.S. and internationatkets and economies, the generally restrictetdt@mment for
credit, and prolonged declines in business anduwnas spending could adversely impact our resultgpefations,
financial position and cash flows.

An information technology system failure may adversely affect our business.

We rely on information technology systems to trahsar business. Like other global companies, we h&tom time tc
time, experienced threats to our data and systatiugh we have implemented administrative antineal controls
and take protective actions to reduce the riskybecincidents and protect our information techgglaand we
endeavor to modify such procedures as circumstamagsnt, such measures may be insufficient togreghysical
and electronic break-ins, cyber-attacks or otheusy breaches to our computer systems. Whileate dve have not
experienced a material cyber security breach, ystems, processes, software and network still neayunerable to
internal or external security breaches, computerses, malware or other malicious code or cybeaekftcatastrophic
events, power interruptions, hardware failureg, firatural disasters, human error, system failamelsdisruptions, and
other events that could have security consequeBces an information technology failure or disroptcould prevent
us from being able to process transactions withcagtomers, operate our manufacturing facilities, properly report
those transactions in a timely manner. A significanotracted information technology system failoray result in a
material adverse effect on our results of operatiinancial position and cash flows.

We are also continuing with the process of impletingnour new, company-wide, information systemfoliach. We
have implemented the new platform at the majoritguwr U.S. sites in the third quarter of 2013. Rartdeployments of
the new information system platform, outside of th8., may cost more than projected or may notoperias expecte:
either of which could adversely impact our resafteperations, financial position and cash flows.
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We may have additional tax liabilities.

We are subject to income and other taxes in the &h& other jurisdictions. Significant judgmentasgjuired in
estimating our worldwide provision for income taxisthe ordinary course of our business, theraraary transactior
and calculations where the ultimate tax determamaits uncertain. Although we believe our tax estemare reasonab
any final determination pursuant to tax audits ang related litigation could be materially diffetéa what is reflected
in our consolidated financial statements. Shouldtar authority disagree with our estimates anémeine additional
tax liability for us, this could adversely impaatraesults of operations, financial position angirciows.

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, which may adversely affect our results of
operations.

We generate a portion of our revenues and incuesmperating costs in currencies other than the dbfar. In
addition, the financial position and results of ®ns of some of our overseas subsidiaries a@rted in the relevant
local currency and then translated to U.S. dobathe applicable currency exchange rate for inafus our
consolidated financial statements. Fluctuatiorth@se currency exchange rates affect the recoededslof our assets
and liabilities, and our results of operations.

The primary exchange rate fluctuation exposuretawe are with the European Union euro, British gosterling and
Swiss franc. Exchange rates between these curseastethe U.S. dollar have fluctuated significairilyecent years
and may continue to do so. We cannot accurateljigirtiture exchange rate variability among thaseencies or
relative to the U.S. dollar. While we take stepsi@nage currency exchange rate exposure, incl@giteging into
hedging transactions, we cannot eliminate all expoto future exchange rate variability. These arge risks could
adversely impact our results of operations, finalngosition and cash flows.

Sharp and unexpected fluctuationsin the cost of our raw materials and energy could adversely affect our profit
margins.

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amaiggnin our manufacturing and blending processesWwbf these
raw materials are derived from petrochemical-bdsedstocks which can be subject to periods of rapdisignificant
cost instability. These fluctuations in cost carchased by political instability in oil producingtions and elsewhere,
other factors influencing global supply and demahthese materials, over which we have little orcoatrol. We use
long-term contracts (generally with fixed or formtdased costs) and advance bulk purchases to i&lpecavailability
and continuity of supply, and to manage the riskast increases. We have entered into hedginggenaants for
certain utilities and raw materials, but do notieglly enter into hedging arrangements for all raaterials, chemicals
or energy costs. If the costs of raw materialspubals or energy increase, and we are not ablagse pn these cost
increases to our customers, then profit marginscasti flows from operating activities would be adedy impacted. If
raw material costs increase significantly, thenmegd for working capital could increase. Any adgé risks could
adversely impact our results of operations, finalngosition and cash flows.
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A disruption in the supply of raw materials or transportation services would have a material adverse impact on our
results of operations.

Although we try to anticipate problems with supplef raw materials or transportation services hiding certain
inventories of strategic importance, any signiftodisruption in either area could affect our abitid obtain raw
materials or transportation services at affordabks, if at all, which could adversely impact cesults of operations,
financial position and cash flows.

Our reliance on a small number of significant stockholders may have a material adverse impact on our stock price.

Approximately 49% of our common stock is held yefstockholders. A decision by any of these stoldédrs to sell
all or a significant part of its holding, or a setdor unexpected disposition of our stock, coutaiitan a significant
decline in our stock price which could in turn acbedy impact our ability to access equity marketschy in turn could
adversely impact our results of operations, finalngosition and cash flows.

We facerisksrelated to our foreign operations that may adversely affect our business.

We serve global markets and operate in certaintdegrwith political and economic instability, imcling the Middle
East, Northern Africa, Asia-Pacific, Eastern Eurape South America regions. Our international ofp@mna are subject
to numerous international business risks includmg,not limited to, unsettled political conditigmsk of
expropriation, import and export restrictions, exagie controls, national and regional labor strikegh or unexpected
taxes, government royalties and restrictions oatreggion of earnings or proceeds from liquidateseds of overseas
subsidiaries. Any of these could adversely impactresults of operations, financial position andrciows.

Failure to protect our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our future performance and cash flows.

Failure to maintain or protect our intellectual pecty rights may result in the loss of valuablentemogies, or us havir
to pay other companies for infringing on their Irgetual property rights. Measures taken by usrtaget our
intellectual property may be challenged, invalidat@rcumvented or rendered unenforceable. We rsayface patent
infringement claims from our competitors which nragult in substantial litigation costs, claims diamages or a
tarnishing of our reputation even if we are suciteé$s defending against these claims, which mayseaour customers
to switch to our competitors. Any of these evemislid adversely impact our results of operatiomsricial position an
cash flows.

Our products are subject to extensive government scrutiny and regulation.

We are subject to regulation by federal, stategllaad foreign government authorities. In some gase need
government approval of our products, manufactuprogesses and facilities before we may sell cegeaducts. Many
products are required to be registered
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with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency anthwomparable government agencies in the Europeéon and
elsewhere. We are also subject to ongoing revidwsiioproducts, manufacturing processes and feslity
government authorities, and must also produce tadata and comply with detailed regulatory requieats.

In order to obtain regulatory approval of certagwrproducts we must, among other things, demoedinat the produ
is appropriate and effective for its intended usesl, that we are capable of manufacturing the mtoduaccordance
with applicable regulations. This approval process be costly, time consuming, and subject to ucipated and
significant delays. We cannot be sure that necesggrovals will be granted on a timely basis aalatAny delay in
obtaining, or any failure to obtain or maintaingsl approvals would adversely affect our abilitintooduce new
products and to generate income from those proddets or stricter laws and regulations may be ohticeed that could
result in additional compliance costs and prevemblobit the development, manufacture, distribntend sale of our
products. Such outcomes could adversely impactesuits of operations, financial position and céshs.

Legal proceedings and other claims could impose substantial costs on us.

We are from time to time involved in legal procewys that result from, and are incidental to, thedct of our
business, including employee and product liabdlgims. Although we maintain insurance to protexagainst a
variety of claims, if our insurance coverage is adéquate to cover such claims, then our resuttp@fations, financial
position and cash flows could be adversely affected

Environmental liabilities and compliance costs could have a substantial adverse impact on our results of operations.

We operate a number of manufacturing sites andubct to extensive federal, state, local anddorenvironmental,
health and safety laws and regulations, includigé relating to emissions to the air, dischargésnd and water, and
the generation, handling, treatment and disposhbpérdous waste and other materials on these Bieesperate under
numerous environmental permits and licenses, mamizh require periodic notification and renewahich is not
automatic. New or stricter laws and regulationda@ancrease our compliance burden or costs andra€lyeaffect our
ability to develop, manufacture, blend, market anpply products.

Our operations, and the operations of prior owonéur sites, pose the risk of environmental comtaton which may
result in fines or criminal sanctions being imposedequire significant amounts in remediation papts.

We anticipate that certain manufacturing sites oegse production over the medium to long-term andasure, will
require safely decommissioning and some environaheaiediation. The extent of our obligations w#pend on the
future use of the sites that are affected and the@@mental laws in effect at the time. We curhghiave made a
decommissioning and remediation provision in oursadidated financial statements based on curremvkn
obligations, anticipated plans for sites and exgsgénvironmental laws. If there
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were to be unexpected or unknown contaminatiohestd sites, or future plans for the sites or enwirental laws
change, then current provisions may prove inadegudtich could adversely impact our results of apens, financial
position and cash flows.

Theinability of counterparties to meet their contractual obligations could have a substantial adverse impact on our
results of operations.

We sell products to oil refineries and chemical pames throughout the world. Credit limits, ongoangdit evaluation
and account monitoring procedures are used to neritvad debt risk. Collateral is not generally ieggh We have in
place a credit facility with a syndicate of ban®ée use derivatives, including interest rate swapsymodity swaps ar
foreign currency forward exchange contracts, inrtwnal course of business to manage market Ngksenter into
derivative instruments with a diversified groupnedjor financial institutions in order to manage éx@osure to non-
performance of such instruments.

We remain subject to market and credit risks inicigdhe ability of counterparties to meet their ttaotual obligations
and the potential non-performance of counterpattieteliver contracted commaodities or servicehatdontracted
price. The inability of counterparties to meet tlegintractual obligations could have an adversehpn our results of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

Theterms of our credit facility may restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness or to otherwise expand our
business.

Our revolving credit facility contains restrictigégauses which may limit our activities, and operadl and financial
flexibility. We may not be able to borrow under tredit facility if an event of default under treerms of the facility
occurs. An event of default under the credit faciincludes a material adverse change to our gsgetsations or
financial condition, and certain other events. Tredlit facility also contains a number of restoos that limit our
ability, among other things, and subject to cerliamited exceptions, to incur additional indebtestiepledge our assets
as security, guarantee obligations of third partiegke investments, undergo a merger or consalatiispose of
assets or materially change our line of business.

In addition, the credit facility requires us to rheertain financial ratios, including ratios basednet debt to EBITDA
and net interest expense to EBITDA. Net debt, metrest expense and EBITDA are non-GAAP measurbguodlity
defined in the credit facility. Our ability to metiese financial covenants depends upon the fetureessful operating
performance of the business. If we fail to complthviinancial covenants, we would be in default enthe credit
facility and the maturity of our outstanding debtitd be accelerated unless we were able to obtaivens from our
lenders. If we were found to be in default under¢hedit facility, it could adversely impact ousuéts of operations,
financial position and cash flows.

Our businessis subject to the risk of manufacturing disruptions, the occurrence of which would adversely affect our
results of operations.

We are subject to hazards common to chemical metwifag, blending, storage, handling and transpioriancluding
fires, labor strikes or slowdowns, explosions, nagttal failure,
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extreme weather, transportation interruptions, iat®n, chemical spills and the release or dispharf toxic or
hazardous substances. These hazards could rekdsiof life, property damage, environmental contetion and
temporary or permanent manufacturing cessation. @lgese factors could adversely impact our reeflbperations,
financial position and cash flows.

Domestic or international natural disasters or terrorist attacks may disrupt our operations, decrease the demand for
our products or otherwise have an adverse impact on our business.

Chemical related assets, and U.S. corporationsasicis, may be at greater risk of future terratistcks than other
possible targets in the U.S., the United Kingdom #mmoughout the world. Extraordinary events sushatural
disasters may negatively affect local economieduding those of our customers or suppliers. Thruoence of such
events cannot be predicted, but they can adveirsglgct economic conditions in general and in o@cdr markets.
The resulting damage from such events could inclost of life, property damage or site closure. Ahyhese matters
could adversely impact our results of operatiomsrcial position and cash flows.

ltem 1B Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
17
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Item 2 Properties

A summary of the Company’s principal propertieshswn in the following table. Each of these prapsris owned by

the Company except where otherwise noted:

Location

Englewood, Colorad®)
Newark, Delawar(

High Point, North Carolina
Salisbury, North Carolina
Crowley, Louisiand®
Chatsworth, Californi

Oklahoma City, Oklahom
Ellesmere Port, United Kingdom

Singapore, Singapofg

Widnes, United Kingdom
Herne, German{
Leuna, Germany
Vernon, France

Milan, Italy @

Zug, Switzerlan(®
Moscow, Russi{®)

Itajai, Brazil®

(1) Leased propert

Reporting Segment
Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals

Fuel Specialtie
Performance Chemicals
Performance Chemicals
Fuel Specialtie

Performance Chemica
Fuel Specialtie

Operations

Corporate Headquarters
Business Teams
Sales/Administratiol

Research & Developme
Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Sales/Manufacturing/Administratic
Sales/Manufacturing/Administratic
Sales/Manufacturing/Administratic

Fuel Specialties, Performance Chemicals and European Headquarters

Octane Additives

Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals

Performance Chemicals

Fuel Specialties

Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals
Fuel Specialties

Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemi
Octane Additive:

Fuel Specialtie
Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemi

18

Business Teams
Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Development

Fuel Technology Centt

Asia-Pacific Headquarters
Business Teams
Sales/Administratiol
Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Sales/Administratiol
Sales/Administratiol
Sales/Administratiol
Sales/Administratiol
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Manufacturing Capacity

We believe that our plants and supply agreemestsu#ficient to meet current sales levels. Opegatittes of the plan
are generally flexible and varied with product rand normal sales swings. We believe that all offacitities are
maintained to appropriate levels and in good opegatondition though there remains an ongoing rieedapital
investment.

Item 3 Legal Proceedings

Jalal Bezee Mejel AGaood & Partner litigation

On September 19, 2012, a claim was filed in thehHigurt of Justice in the United Kingdom by JalakzBe Mejel Al-
Gaood & Partner and Future Agencies Company Lin{tetdectively “JAG”) against the Company, Innospemited
and a former employee of Innospec Limited. The Camypoelieves JAG was the former Iraq distributarAéion
Chemicals Limited, a subsidiary of NewMarket Cogiamn, from at least 2005 until termination of thelationship in
2010. The stated claim, inclusive of costs and Bges, is for up to $42.3 million and relates te@dld loss of profits fi
JAG’s business in Iraq between 2004 and 2010. Tdregany believes that the allegations in the JAGche without
merit and intends to defend vigorously its intesest

Other legal matters

While we are involved from time to time in claimsdelegal proceedings that result from, and arededal to, the
conduct of our business including business and cemtiad litigation, employee and product liabilithaens, there are t
other material pending legal proceedings to whith@ompany or any of its subsidiaries is a pantpfavhich any of
their property is subject. It is possible, howevkat an adverse resolution of an unexpectedhelatgnber of such
individual claims or proceedings could in the aggte have a material adverse effect on resultp@fations for a
particular year or quarter.

Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable
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PART Il

Item 5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information and Holders

The Company’s common stock is listed on the NASD#fer the symbol “IOSP.” As of February 6, 2014 ¢heere
1,097 registered holders of the common stock. dHeviing table shows the closing high and low psioé our
common stock for each of the last eight quarters:

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2013

High $44.2¢ $44.01 $46.6¢ $48.71

Low $35.27 $39.9¢ $40.61 $42.5¢
2012

High $32.81 $31.8( $33.92 $34.4¢

Low $28.27 $25.5¢ $29.6¢ $29.57
Dividends

The Company declared the following cash dividendtie year ended December 31, 2013:

Amount
Date declared Stockholders of Recort Date Paid per share
November 4, 201 November 18, 201 November 27, 201 $ 0.5C

The Company declared the following cash dividendtie year ended December 31, 2012:
Amount
per

Date declared Stockholders of Recort Date Paid share

December 3, 201 December 14, 20: December 21, 20: $ 2.0C

On December 14, 2011, we entered into a five-y@aslving credit facility which contains no restraris on our ability
to declare dividends and the Company is allowa@pairchase its own common stock as long as wenarempliance
with the financial covenants in the credit facility

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

As part of the consideration in the acquisitiorChiemsil on August 30, 2013, we issued 150,943 mbspec Inc.
common stock to the previous owner on that date.

As part of the consideration in the acquisitiorBathman on November 4, 2013, we issued 319,953naispec Inc.
common stock to the previous owners on that date.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
No purchases of equity securities by the issuaffdrated purchasers were made during the fouddrtgr of 2013
Repurchased common stock is held as treasury stdeks re-issued under equity compensation plans.

The Company’s most recent Rule 10b5-1 and/or 10kef8rchase plan ended on December 31, 2011 areddheethe
Company made no repurchases under such plans & 26&@ Company may approve further share repurghaggam:
in the future but there are currently no activeurepase plans in place.

The Company has authorized securities for issuander equity compensation plans. The informatiantaioed in the
table under the heading “Equity Compensation Planffie Proxy Statement is incorporated hereinddgrence. The
current limit for the total amount of shares whaamn be issued or awarded under the Company’s tiogk ®ption plans
is 2,640,000.
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Stock Price Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total netioistockholders on the common stock of the Carpmm, S&P
500 Index, NASDAQ Composite Index and Russell 2b@@x since December 31, 2008, assuming a $106timest
and the re-investment of any dividends thereafter.

Innospec Ing. v S&P 500, NASDACG Composite and Ryssell 2000 Indices
Total Betuern to Stockholders sinice December 31, 2008

WYialue of 51040 Investment made December 31, 2007
g 2 £ 2 &8 2 g £

2

=

2008 2009 2010 201 2012 2013

=8—|mnospee Ine,  —M=5&P 500 =—#=NASDAQ Composite ==Russell 2000

Value of $100 Investment made December 31, 2008*
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Innospec Inc 100.0C 174.8: 353.4. 486.3t 632.2t 856.4¢
S&P 500 Inde» 100.0C 123.4% 139.2¢ 139.2¢ 157.9( 204.6:
NASDAQ Composite Inde 100.0C 143.8¢ 168.2: 165.1¢ 191.47 264.8¢
Russell 2000 Inde 100.0C 125.2; 156.9( 148.3¢ 170.0¢ 232.9¢

* Excludes purchase commissions
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Item 6 Selected Financial Date
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(in

millions, except financial ratios, share and pe

share data)

Su

mmary of performance:

Net sales

Impairment of Octane Additives segment good
Operating incom®)

Income before income tax®

Income taxe®

Net income®)

Net income attributable to the r-controlling interes
Net income attributable to Innospec 1)

Net cash provided by operating activit

Financial position at year end:

Total asset

Long-term debt (including current portio

Cash and cash equivalents, and «term investment
Stockholder' equity

Financial ratios:

Sh

1)
(2)
(3)

Net income attributable to Innospec Inc. as a peage of
sales®

Effective tax rate as a percente® G

Current ratic®

are data:

Earnings per share attributable to Innospec

— Basic®

— Diluted ®

Dividend paid per shai

Shares outstanding (basic, thousai

— At year enc

— Average during yee

Closing stock prict

— High

- Low

— At year enc

2013 2012
$ 818. $ 776.2
1.9 1.2)
90.¢€ 96.5
92.¢ 93.2
(15.0) (26.9)
77.€ 66.C
0.C 0.C
77.€ 66.C
61.2 61.2
794.7 579.2
148.( 30.C
86.€ 27.

$ 409.2 $ 317.C
9.5 8.6
16.2 28.
2.6 2.C

$ 3.2¢ $ 2.8¢
$ 3.2 $ 2.81
$ 0.5 $ 2.0
24,34 23,33
23,65 23,18
$ 48.71 $ 34.4¢
$ 35.27 $ 25.5¢
$ 46.2 $ 34.4¢

The effective tax rate is calculated as a percentdgncome before income tax

Current ratio is defined as current assets divledurrent liabilities

Prior year comparatives have been revised as exgulah Note 2 to the financial stateme!
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2011 2010
$ 774. $ 683.2
2.0 2.2)
47.2 67.1
50. 65.€
(3.1) 4.3
47.1 69.¢
0.C 0.C
47.1 69.¢
34.7 58.2
568.¢ 549.4
35.C 47.(
81.C 111.

$ 343.1 $ 300.7
6.1 10.2

6.2 (6.€)

2.2 2.

$ 2.0 $ 2.9
$ 1.0z $ 2.8z
$ 0.0C $ 0.0C
23,04’ 23,70:
23,56¢ 23,75¢
$ 37.6¢ $ 22.4C
$ 19.1¢ $ 8.6¢
$ 28.07 $ 20.4(

2009

$ 598.L
2.2)
20.7
18.2
(11.9)
6.4
0.C
6.4
87.2

543.]
51.C
68.¢

$ 157.¢

1.1
65.(
1.€

$ 0.27
$ 0.2¢
$ 0.0¢

23,66
23,64:

$ 15.6¢
$ 2.7¢
$ 10.0¢
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QUARTERLY SUMMARY

First Second Third Fourth

(in millions, except per share datg Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2013
Net sales $199.¢ $185.( $192.¢ $241.¢
Gross profi 63.¢ 59.4 57.¢ 74.€
Operating incom 22.2 22.2 19.5 26.¢€
Net incomew 18.C 17.1 14.C 28.7
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 17.C $ 19.7 $ (5.9 $ 29t
Per common shar

Earnings- basic $ 0.77 $ 0.7¢ $ 0.5¢ $ 1.1¢

— diluted $ 0.75 $ 0.71 $ 0.5¢ $ 1.17

2012@®
Net sales $200.¢ $178.5 $183.« $213.7
Gross profi 64.C 56.7 50.7 65.C
Operating incom: 31.2 24.1 17.: 23.€
Net income®@ 24.¢€ 15.F 15.5 11.:
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 18.C $ 12 $ 28.7 $ 2.3
Per common shar

Earnings- basic $ 1.07 $ 0.67 $ 0.67 $ 0.4¢

—diluted $ 1.0: $ 0.6: $ 0.6: $ 0.47
NOTES
(1) Special items, before tax, during the year endeckBer 31, 2013 comprised the followil
First Second Third Fourth

(in millions) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2013
75thanniversary employee recogniti $ 0.C $ 0.C $ 0.C $ (1.6
Foreign currency exchange gains/(los: 1.C (1.0 (0.8 4.C
Adjustment of income tax provisiol 0.C 0.C (0.7) (0.2
Acquisitior-related cost $ 0.C $ (0.2 $ (1.9 $ (0.9

(2) Special items, before tax, during the year endeckBer 31, 2012 comprised the followil

First Second Third Fourth
(in millions) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2012
Tax impact of acquisitic-related funding $ 0.C $ 0.C $ 0.C $ (7.9
Foreign currency exchange gains/(los: 1.1 (4.3 (0.2 1.2
Adjustment of income tax provisiol 0.C 0.C 0.2 (0.3
Acquisitior-related cost $ 0.C $ 0.C $ (0.9 $ (2.5

(3) In 2012, an adjustment to the non-cash persipense (see Note 2 to the financial statemensshéen reflected in the fourth quarter as
the impact on the individual quarters is not coesed to be materia
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Item 7 Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of
Operations

This discussion should be read in conjunction with consolidated financial statements and the rtbteto.
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Our business performance in 2013 was close toxqeatations, demonstrating our commitment to oatsgy. Sales
in our growth businesses reflected our strong teldgncal position in these markets, while the dezlin Octane
Additives was in line with the transition to unleadgasoline.

We have managed our investments in capital equipmamking capital and recruitment of additionaillekl personnel
in line with these market factors. Our capital peog and expenses during 2013 included investmesniew
information system platform, which we expect to adtlie to our business in 2014. During 2013, wepeted the
acquisition of Bachman to further build-out ourgeece in oilfield specialties. In 2013, we alsouaey Chemsil and
Chemtec in order to add technology and productaitdersonal Care business within our Performarmearitals
segment, as well as providing an enhanced salesstnicture to serve the West Coast U.S. market.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finandialeé®nents includes a summary of the significanbating policies
and methods used in the preparation of the coraelidfinancial statements.

Revision of Prior Period Financial Statements

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company tded an error in calculating the Market Relatedlde of Assets
(“MRVA”) for Innospec Limited’s United Kingdom Peim Plan which has been overstated each year 2D@&
MRVA is either the fair value of the plan assetthd employer does not defer gains or losses angssets, or a
calculated value that recognizes changes in fairevia a systematic and rational manner over naertfwan five years,
when the expected long-term rate of return is ugetbtermine net periodic postretirement benest.cbhe overstated
MRVA is used to determine the size of “the corridender GAAP which has resulted in an understatéroén
amortization of actuarial net losses within thegpen expense each year since 2004. The Compamgviasd prior
period financial statements to correct the immateron-cash errors for the years ended Decemb&t(@P, and 2011,
see Note 2 Accounting PolicieRevision of Prior Years for further details. Thealission and analysis included he
is based on the financial results for the year dridlecember 31, 2013 and the revised financialrskatés for the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 as correctetldotitne immaterial non-cash errors.

Contingencies

We are subject to legal, regulatory and other grdiceys and claims. The Company discloses informattmcerning
contingent liabilities in respect of these claims @roceedings for
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which an unfavorable outcome is more than remodktiag potential loss could materially impact owgules of
operations, financial position and cash flows. \Weognize within selling, general and administragxpenses
liabilities for these claims and proceedings whias probable that the Company has incurred abdased on an
unfavorable outcome and the amount of the losdearrasonably estimated and we endeavor to faielyemt, in
conjunction with the disclosures of these mattersur consolidated financial statements, managémeietv of our
exposure. We review outstanding claims and proogsdiith external counsel as appropriate to agsedability and
estimates of loss. When the reasonable estimateaisge, the recognized liability will be the bestimate within the
range. If no amount in the range is a better esérttean any other amount then the minimum amoutitefange will
be recognized.

We reevaluate our assessments each quarter or as nesigaifccant information becomes available. Theuattost o
ultimately resolving a claim or proceeding may lgm#gicantly different from the amount of the recoged liability. In
addition, because it is not permissible to recogaidiability until the loss is both probable arstimable, in some cases
there may be insufficient time to recognize a liggbprior to the actual incurrence of the lossd@upverdict and
judgment at trial, for example, or in the case gli&ckly negotiated settlemen

Environmental Liabilities

Remediation provisions at December 31, 2013 amdunt&31.4 million and relate principally to ouldsmere Port
site in the United Kingdom. We recognize environtakhabilities when they are probable and costsloa reasonably
estimated, and asset retirement obligations wheretis a legal obligation and costs can be rea$peabmated. The
Company has to anticipate the program of work meguand the associated future expected costs,angdlg with
environmental legislation in the countries in whithperates or has operated in. The Company vieevsosts of
vacating our Ellesmere Port site as contingent upand when it vacates the site because there gesent intention
do so. The Company has further determined thatfaltlee uncertain product life of TEL particulantythe market for
aviation gasoline and other products being manufadton site, there are uncertainties as to thiegtibty and timing
of the expected costs. Such uncertainties have dm®sidered in estimating the provision.

Pensions

The Company maintains a defined benefit pension pievering a number of its current and former elygds in the
United Kingdom. The Company also has other mucHlemaension arrangements in the U.S. and oversesishe
obligations under those plans are not material. Jiiéed Kingdom plan is closed to future serviceraal, but has a
large number of deferred and current pensioners.

Movements in the underlying plan asset value anePted Benefit Obligation (“PBQO”) are dependentaatual return
on investments as well as our assumptions in régihéice discount rate, annual member mortalitgsafuture return
on assets and future inflation. A change in anyarteese assumptions could impact the plan asdeeyPBO and
pension
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charge recognized in the income statement. Suaigelsacould adversely impact our results of opeamatend financial
position. For example, a 0.25% change in the discate assumption would change the PBO by apprateiy $28
million and the net pension charge for 2013 by epijpnately $0.5 million. A 0.25% change in the leeébrice
inflation assumption would change the PBO by apionately $22 million and the net pension charge2dt3 by
approximately $1.7 million.

Further information is provided in Note 9 of thetBl®to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Deferred Tax and Uncertain Income Tax Positions

At December 31, 2013, no valuation allowance isiiregl against our foreign tax credit carry forwandthin deferred
tax as management believes that all the foreigrtadit carry forwards can be utilized in futureipds prior to their
expiration.

No deferred taxes have been provided for on themitted earnings of our overseas subsidiaries yasaarbasis
differences relating to investments in these oaseibsidiaries are considered to be permanentation. We have r
current intention to repatriate past or future gey® of our overseas subsidiaries and considetlieate earnings have
been reinvested overseas. If circumstances watleaioge that would cause these earnings to be isgpdtan addition:
U.S. tax liability could be incurred, and we con@nto monitor this position.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves éwating uncertainties in the application of compiax regulations. We
recognize liabilities for anticipated tax auditues based on our estimate of whether, and thetewterhich, additional
taxes will be required. If we ultimately determihat payment of these amounts is unnecessary,weesesthe liability
and recognize a tax benefit during the period inctvive determine that the liability is no longecassary.

We also recognize tax benefits to the extent thatmore likely than not that our positions wiét bustained, based on
technical merits, when challenged by the taxingpauties. To the extent that we prevail in matterswhich liabilities
have been established, or are required to pay asmouexcess of our liabilities, our effective tate in a given period
may be materially affected. An unfavorable taxleetent may require cash payments and result in@ease in our
effective tax rate in the year of resolution. Adaable tax settlement may be recognized as a rieduatour effective
tax rate in the year of resolution. We report iestrand penalties related to uncertain income ¢akipns as income
taxes. For additional information regarding undartacome tax positions see Note 10 of the NotdakeaConsolidated
Financial Statements.

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting requires watecognize the assets acquired and liabilitisarasd at their
acquisition date fair values. Goodwill is measussdhe excess of consideration transferred oveadqaisition date ne
fair values of the assets acquired and the ligslidssumed.
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The measurement of the fair values of assets amjaimd liabilities assumed requires considerallgment. Although
independent appraisals may be used to assist ohetieemination of the fair values of certain assets liabilities, those
determinations are usually based on significamtnegés provided by management, such as forecastedue or profit.
In determining the fair value of intangible assatsjncome approach is generally used and maypocate the use of a
discounted cash flow method. In applying the disted cash flow method, the estimated future cashsfland residual
values for each intangible asset are discountadot@sent value using a discount rate appropodatget business being
acquired. These cash flow projections are basadamagement’s estimates of economic and market tomsli
including revenue growth rates, operating margsapjtal expenditures and working capital requiretsien

While we use our best estimates and assumptioparasf the process to value assets acquired ahilities assumed
the acquisition date, our estimates are inherembertain and subject to refinement. During thesusament period,
which occurs before finalization of the purchaseeallocation, changes in assumptions and estgrihag result in
adjustments to the fair values of assets acquinddiabilities assumed will have a correspondinfgetfto goodwill.
Subsequent adjustments will impact our consolidatattments of income.

Goodwill

The Company’s reporting units, the level at whidodwill is tested for impairment, are consistenhvihe reportable
segments: Fuel Specialties, Performance Chemindl©atane Additives. The components in each seg(matiding
products, markets and competitors) have similaneeguc characteristics and the segments, therafeflect the lowest
level at which operations and cash flows can bicsertly distinguished, operationally and for fir@al reporting
purposes, from the rest of the Company. The Compestg goodwill annually for impairment, or betwsesars if
events occur or circumstances change which sugfggstin impairment may have occurred.

The Company performs its annual goodwill testespect of Fuel Specialties and Performance Chesrasaht
December 31 each year. In reviewing for any impairticharge the fair values of the reporting segsard estimated
using an after-tax cash flow methodology based anagement’s best available estimates at that Tilme key
assumptions underpinning these calculations inclutige revenue growth, gross margins and the Cogipaveighted
average cost of capital. At December 31, 2013 vae#ia1.1 million and $46.8 million of goodwill reilag to our Fuel
Specialties and Performance Chemicals segmengeatgely. Our annual impairment tests as of suatle chdicated n
impairment because the estimated fair values afglmeporting segments substantially exceeded tindrog values.

As a result of the Octane Additives impairmentdgerformed during 2013, 2012 and 2011 impairmeatges of $1.3
million, $1.2 million and $2.0 million, respectiyelhave been recognized. These charges are norircaature and
have no impact on taxation. In 2012 some of tharaptions and estimates relating to the Octane Additsegment
discounted
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cash flows were revised as part of our planning@sees (although the overall methodology was umggdnThese
revisions had no material impact on the reportihgamdwill. At December 31, 2013 there was no goiidemaining
for the Octane Additives segment. Remaining salesancentrated around a relatively small numbeusfomers with
a risk that future demand could dramatically dexlin

While we believe our assumptions for impairmentstese reasonable, they are subjective judgmemdsit & possible
that variations in any of the assumptions may tesuhaterially different calculations of impairnmterharges, if any.

Other Intangible Assets (Net of Amortization) and FPoperty, Plant and Equipment

At December 31, 2013 we had $126.8 million of ofihéangible assets (net of amortization), and $6&@ildon of
property, plant and equipment, that are discussé&btes 7 and 5 of the Notes to the Consolidataedriaial Statemeni
respectively. These long-lived assets relate tofadur reporting segments and are being amortizetepreciated
straight-line over periods of up to 16 years irpees of the other intangible assets and up to 2Bsyi@ respect of the
property, plant and equipment.

We continually assess the markets and productedela these long-lived assets, as well as theicifp carrying
values, and have concluded that these carryingegsahnd amortization and depreciation periods, irea@propriate.

We also test these long-lived assets for any pialeéntpairment when events occur or circumstanéasge which
suggest that an impairment may have occurred. Tilypss of events or changes in circumstances ¢oaldde, but are
not limited to:

* introduction of new products with enhanced featlngesur competitors

» loss of, material reduction in purchases by, or-renewal of a contract by, a significant custon

» prolonged decline in business or consumer spen

* sharp and unexpected rise in raw material, cheroicahergy costs; ar

* new laws or regulations inhibiting the developmeminufacture, distribution or sale of our produ
In order to facilitate this testing the Companyupse together assets at the lowest possible levaltiach cash flow
information is available. Undiscounted future cfistvs expected to result from the asset groupsangpared with the
carrying value of the assets and, if such cashdflase lower, an impairment loss may be recognikkd.amount of the
impairment loss is the difference between thevialue and the carrying value of the assets. Fduregaare determined
using post-tax cash flows discounted at the Compamgighted average cost of capital. If events oceu
circumstances change it may cause a reductionriodseover which these long-lived assets are azeattor

depreciated, or result in a non-cash impairmesat pdrtion of their carrying value. A reduction immartization or
depreciation periods would have no effect on cashs.

29



Table of Contents

We are continuing with the implementation of a neampany-wide, information system platform. Thetfiolan
provider is well established in the market. Thelengentation is a phased, risk-managed, site de@ayand follows a
multistage user acceptance program with the egigiatform providing a fallback position. We haveplemented the
new platform at the majority of our U.S. siteshe third quarter of 2013. Internally developedsafe and other costs
capitalized at December 31, 2013 were $19.5 mi(012 — $10.1 million). An amortization expensesaf0 million
was recognized in 2013 (2012 — $0.0 million) idisg| general and administrative expenses.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table provides operating income byaeing segment:

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie $ 567.¢ $ 527.2 $ 521.2
Performance Chemica 192.4 179.¢ 177.C
Octane Additive: 59.C 69.¢€ 76.2

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $ 181.1 $ 158.7 $ 149.c
Performance Chemica 46.¢ 43.¢ 40.¢€
Octane Additives 27.€ 33.¢€ 36.

Operating income:

Fuel Specialtie $ 92.7 $ 87. $ 81.7
Performance Chemica 23.€ 24.% 22.€
Octane Additive: 21.5 26.C (22.9)
Pension credit/(charg (2.3 (1.€) (2.9
Corporate cost (43.9) (38.t (29.2)
Restructuring charg (0.2 (0.2) (0.€)
Impairment of Octane Additives segment good (1.3 (1.2) (2.0
Profit on disposal, ne 0.C 0.1 0.C
Total operating incom $ 90.€ $ 96.F $ 47.C
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Results of Operations — Fiscal 2013 compared to €l 2012:

(in millions, except ratios 2013 2012 Change

Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie $ 567.¢ $ 527.: $ 40.z +8%

Performance Chemica 192. 179.¢ 12.¢ +7%

Octane Additive: 59.C 69.€ (10.€) -15%
$ 818.¢ $ 776.¢ $ 42.L +5%

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $ 181.] $ 158.7 $ 22.2 +14%

Performance Chemica 46.5 43.¢ 2.5 +6%

Octane Additive: 27.¢ 33.¢ (6.7) -18%
$ 255. $ 236. $ 18.¢ +8%

Gross margin (%):

Fuel Specialtie 31.9 30.1 +1.8

Performance Chemica 24.1 24.4 -0.3

Octane Additive: 47.1 48.7 -1.6

Aggregate 31.2 30.4 +0.8

Operating expenses

Fuel Specialtie $ (88.9 $ (71.)) $  (17.9 +24%

Performance Chemica (22.7) (19.5 (3.2 +16%

Octane Additive: (6.3 (7.€ 1.€ -20%

Pension credit/(charg (2.3 (1.€) (0.7) +44%

Corporate cost (43.9 (38.5) 4.9 +13%

$(163.]) $(138.6) $ (249 +18%

Fuel Specialties

Net salesthe table below details the components which coseptie year on year change in net sales spreaskabim
markets in which we operate:

Change (%) Americas EMEA ASPAC Avtel Total
Volume +4 -1 +4 +2C +3
Price and product mi -4 +3 -3 +4 0
Exchange rate 0 +3 0 0 +1
Acquisitions +1C 0 0 0 +4

+1C +5 +1 +24 +8

Americas saw an increase in volumes in 2013 asultref higher demand, offset by an adverse pnce@oduct mix
as a result of lower sales of high margin produstsjuisitions in the Americas, relating to Stratal 8achman,
generated additional sales compared to 2012. EM#éAnves remained on par with the prior year, whéeddfiting fror
an improved price

31



Table of Contents

and product mix. EMEA benefited from favorable exahe rates driven primarily by a strengtheninghefEuropean
Union euro against the U.S. dollar. Volumes weghér in ASPAC with an adverse price and productasia result of
lower sales of higher margin products. Avtel volsnmecreased due to the timing of shipments to coste as opposed
to any change in the long-term outlook for that keawith the price and product mix benefiting franfavorable
customer mix.

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 1.8 percentage pafiected a richer price and product mix in EMERe t
continued benefit from higher margin sales in thrat8 business; and a favorable customer mix irh@irer margin
Avtel business; which were offset by adverse paice product mix in the Americas and ASPAC.

Operating expensethe year on year increase of 24%, or $17.3 milheas due to $6.7 million of additional costs for
the Strata business; $3.4 million of additionaltsder the Bachman businesses; $2.4 million ofaased personnel-
related compensation costs, partly due to the higberuals for share based compensation expensndyy the rise in
our stock price compared to the same period impthoe year; $2.9 million of additional researchyd®pment and new
product testing costs; $1.4 million of additionahamissions; and a $0.5 million increase in othgremses.

Performance Chemicals

Net salesthe table below details the components which cosephe year on year change in net sales spreassabm
markets in which we operate:

Change (%) Americas EMEA ASPAC Total
Volume -3 0 +17 +1
Price and product mi +1 -1 -7 0
Exchange rate 0 +1 0 0
Acquisitions +1E 0 0 +6

+13 0 +1C +7

In the Americas volumes were lower in Fragranceddignts, partly offset by an improved price analdoict mix
resulting from a retrospective price adjustmenhwitcustomer. Acquisitions in the Americas, retatm Chemsil and
Chemtec, generated additional sales compared . 2@lumes in EMEA are on a par with the prior yeambined
with a marginally weaker price and product mix nadgrance Ingredients partially offset by improvates mix in
Personal Care. ASPAC volumes moved higher but wapacted by higher sales of lower margin products.

Gross marginthe year on year decrease of 0.3 percentage peitgsted the competitive pricing pressures for
Fragrance Ingredients, partly offset by a richézgpand product mix in our Personal Care markegetioer with a
retrospective price adjustment with a customeh@eAmericas and EMEA; and higher margins in ourr@$iebusiness
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Operating expensethe year on year increase of 16%, or $3.2 milliefiected $3.1 million of additional costs for our
recently acquired Chemsil and Chemtec busines8e3;million higher personnel-related compensatiosts driven by
the rise in our stock price compared to the samieg the prior year; and a $0.2 million decreasether expenses.

Octane Additives

Net salesdecreased by 15% with decreased volumes (downrt@mtage points), due to the timing of shipments an
declining demand from major customers, and an irgaa@ustomer mix (up 4 percentage points), togetiithrreducec
revenue from our environmental remediation busii@se/n 1 percentage points). In both 2013 and 2642s were
focused in the Middle East and Northern Africa.

Gross margindecreased by 1.6 percentage points from 48.7%.1i®& tue to lower manufacturing volumes, partly
offset by favorable customer mix and non-recurfiegght storage costs in the prior year.

Operating expenseslecreased by $1.6 million from $7.9 million to $é8lion, due to the efficient management of
cost base.

Other Income Statement Captions

Pension credit/(chargethis non-cash charge increased to a $2.3 millidrcinarge in 2013 compared to a $1.6 million
net charge in 2012, after revising the amortizatibactuarial losses in 2012 (see Note 2 to thenitial statements).
The increase in the net charge in 2013 primarilgtes to increased actuarial net losses being @edrto the income
statement.

Corporate coststhe year on year increase of 13%, or $4.9 millieflected $8.2 million higher legal, compliance,
professional and other expenses, including acipnsielated costs of $1.8 million in 2013 compare&2.8 million in
2012; $1.8 million higher personnel-related compéins costs, primarily due to higher accruals foare based
compensation expense, driven by the rise in owkghoice compared to the same period in the peary$0.7 million
higher information technology service platform epsiffset by a $5.8 million reduction in the chafgethe long-term
incentive plan which completed at the end of 2012.

Restructuring chargewas $0.2 million in 2013 and 2012.
Impairment of Octane Additives segment goodwas $1.3 million in 2013 and $1.2 million in 2012.

Other net income/(expensether net income of $4.1 million primarily relatexdgains of $5.8 million on translation of
net assets denominated in non-functional currenciesr European businesses, partly offset by oretign exchange
losses on foreign currency forward exchange cotgt@c$1.6 million. In 2012, other net expense 20&million
primarily related to losses on translation of reteds denominated in non-functional currenciesimEmropean
businesses offset by net foreign exchange gairisreign currency forward exchange contracts.
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Interest expense, ndncreased to $1.9 million in 2013 from $1.2 million2012 due to the higher level of borrowing
during 2013, used primarily to fund our acquisitawtivity.

Income taxesthe effective tax rate was 16.2% and 28.3% in 280182012, respectively. The effective tax rateegonc
adjusted for income tax provisions and for theitapact of acquisition-related funding, was 15.992013 compared
with 20.2% in 2012. The Company believes that ddigisted effective tax rate, a non-GAAP financigasure,
provides useful information to investors and masisigshem in evaluating the Company’s underlyinggrenance and
identifying operating trends. In addition, managameses this non-GAAP financial measure interntlgvaluate the
performance of the Company’s operations and fampteg and forecasting in subsequent periods.

(in millions, except ratios’ 2013 2012
Income before income tax $92.¢ $93.:
Income taxe: $15.C $26.4
Add back adjustment of income tax provisic (0.2 (0.2
Add back tax impact of acquisiti-related funding 0.C (7.4
$14.¢ $18.¢
GAARP effective tax rat 16.2% 28.2%
Adjusted effective tax rai 15.% 20.2%

In addition to those mentioned above, the followiagtors had a significant impact on the Compaeyfsctive tax rate
as compared to the U.S. federal income tax raB5%4:

(in millions) 2013 2012

Foreign tax rate differenti $(13.6) $(15.6€)
Foreign income inclusior 5.7 46.5
Foreign tax credit (1.9 (36.5)
Deferred tax charge/(credit) from United Kingdomame tax rate reduction on pensit 0.¢ (0.5)
Prior year adjustmen $ (2.7 $ (0.6)

The impact on the effective tax rate from profisreed in foreign jurisdictions with lower tax rateswies as the
geographical mix of the Company’s profits changesryon year. In 2013, the Company’s income tax es@®enefited
to a lesser degree from a proportion of its ovgmadfits arising in Switzerland than in 2012. Thesulted in a $9.3
million benefit in Switzerland (2012 — $12.0 milip In addition, there was a $3.9 million benefirélation to the
United Kingdom (2012 — $3.3 million) and a $0.3lmait benefit in relation to Germany (2012 — $0. liwm).

Foreign income inclusions arise each year fromagetypes of income earned overseas being taxalolerl).S. tax
regulations. These types of income include Suldpartome, principally from foreign based companigsan the
United Kingdom, including the associated Sectionas8gross up, and also from the income earnechyio overseas
subsidiaries
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taxable under the U.S. tax regime. In 2013, thewarhof Subpart F income and the associated Se¢8agross up
amounted to $4.3 million (2012 — $4.3 million). Tiheome earned by certain overseas subsidiarieblaxinder the
U.S. tax regime decreased to $1.2 million from $8ilion in 2012. A dividend from an overseas sdlgiy, remitted
to the U.S., increased foreign income inclusion§89.0 million during 2012. In 2013 no dividendsreveemitted to th
U.S.

Foreign tax credits can fully or partially offseéese incremental U.S. taxes from foreign incomkigions. The
utilization of foreign tax credits varies year agay as this is dependent on a number of variabterawhich are
difficult to predict and may in certain years prevany offset of foreign tax credits. In total, $4nillion of foreign tax
credits were utilized during 2013 to partially @fthe incremental U.S. taxes arising from foreigrome inclusions in
the year (2012 — an overseas dividend was rentittéee U.S. to provide funding for the Company’guisition
program and $42.8 million of foreign tax creditsrevetilized during 2012). Of this balance, $2.4limil of foreign tax
credit carry forwards from earlier years was utitiZ2012 — $14.2 million). This resulted in a daseein the
recognition of foreign tax credit carry forwards$#.4 million during the year (2012 — a $6.6 millidecrease).

The United Kingdom’s 3% reduction in the corporattax rate from 23% to 20% in April 2015, enacteduly 2013,
resulted in a net deferred tax charge of $0.9 onil{2012 — a net deferred tax credit of $0.5 miljim the third quarter
of 2013 primarily in relation to the deferred taosgion of the United Kingdom defined benefit pemsplan.

Further details are given in Note 10 of the Notethe Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Results of Operations — Fiscal 2012 compared to el 2011:

(in millions, except ratios 2012 2011 Change

Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie $527.2 $521.2 $ 6.C +1%

Performance Chemica 179.¢ 177.( 2.€ +1%

Octane Additive: 69.€ 76.2 (6.€) -9%
$ 776.4 $774. $ 2.C 0%

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $ 158.7 $ 149.c $ 94 +6%

Performance Chemica 43.¢ 40.¢ 3.2 +8%

Octane Additive: 33.¢ 36.5 (2.€) -7%
$ 236.4 $ 226.4 $ 10.C +4%

Gross margin (%):

Fuel Specialtie 30.1 28.6 +1.5

Performance Chemica 24.4 22.9 +1.5

Octane Additive: 48.7 47.9 +0.8

Aggregate 30.4 29.2 +1.2

Operating expenses

Fuel Specialtie $ (71.)) $ (67.6) $ (3.5 +5%

Performance Chemica (19.5) (18.0 (1.5 +8%

Octane Additive: (7.9) (58.9) 51.C -87%

Pension credit/(charg (1.€) (2.9 1.2 -45%

Corporate cost (38.5) (29.2) (9.9 +32%
$(138.€) $(176.€) $ 38.C -22%

Fuel Specialties

Net salesthe table below details the components which coseptie year on year change in net sales spreaskabim
markets in which we operate:

Change (%) Americas EMEA ASPAC Avtel Total
Volume -4 +3 -5 -24 -3
Price and product mi +7 +6 +12 +6 +7
Exchange rate 0 -8 -1 0 -3

+3 +1 +6 -18 +1

Sales volumes in both the Americas and ASPAC dedlfor the second year running primarily due todogales of
high volume but low margin products, offset by legkales of more added value products, resultiragimproved
price and product mix in both these markets. Sadsmes, and price and product mix, in EMEA conéiduo benefit i
2012 from new contracts and contract amendmengseghinto in 2011, partially offset by a
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weakening of the European Union euro and Britistinglosterling against the U.S. dollar. Avtel volundeslined 24%
in 2012, compared to a 13% increase in 2011, dtlgettiming of shipments to customers as opposatyachange in
the long-term outlook for that market. This Avtales volume decline was partially offset by an ioyed customer
mix.

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 1.5 percentage poimrily reflected a lower proportion of saledaiver
margin products, specifically in the Americas areBPRAC markets, and the continued benefit in 20l1th@hew
contracts and contract amendments entered int0lih. 2Many of the raw materials that we use arevddrirom
petrochemical-based feedstocks and their costs kesserolatile due to the stable crude oil pricgsegienced in 2012.

Operating expensethe year on year increase of 5%, or $3.5 millioaswrimarily due to the release of a $3.7 million
accrual in respect of an old customer claim infits¢ quarter of 2011 which did not recur in 20T2is increase was
partially offset by the $0.5 million favorable imgaf foreign currency exchange rates on our Elanm®st base
denominated in European Union euro and British paatarling.

Performance Chemicals

Net salesthe table below details the components which coseptie year on year change in net sales spreaskabm
markets in which we operate:

Change (%) Americas EMEA ASPAC Total
Volume +1¢ -8 +1 +4
Price and product mi +1 +1 +5 +1
Exchange rate -1 -6 -2 -4

+1¢ -13 +4 +1

Overall sales volumes increased in this segmepitgethe competitive pressures faced in all theketarwe serve.
Improved sales volumes within the Personal Car&ketdocused in the Americas and the global Fragrangredients
market, were partially offset by lower volumes doeveaker demand in our Polymers market whichdsiged in
EMEA. Price and product mix was substantially umgjed in our larger Americas and EMEA markets, agwefitted
in ASPAC due to the higher proportion of more addaldie products sold in 2012. Sales in all our ratrkbut notably
EMEA, suffered from a weakening of the Europeanddreuro and British pound sterling against the ddHar.

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 1.5 percentage pafiected the continued improvement in demand a&cro
the markets despite the competitive pressures oginsawith the exception of our Polymers markeeaker demand

in our Polymers market resulted in lower sales nas and sales prices with a consequential adveyssct on gross
margin. Many of the raw materials that we use @amevdd from petrochemical-based feedstocks andemefiited from
the fact that their costs were less volatile duhéostable crude oil prices experienced in 2012.
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Operating expensethe year on year increase of 8%, or $1.5 millioas\ywrimarily in respect of $1.2 million higher
personnel-related compensation costs, partiallsedtby the $0.5 million favorable impact of foreigmrrency exchange
rates on our European cost base denominated irp&amoJnion euro and British pound sterling.

Octane Additives

Net salesdecreased by 9% entirely in respect of lower vokisiace sales mix and revenue from our environrhenta
remediation business were unchanged. In both 26d2@11, sales were focused in the Middle EastNorthern
Africa.

Gross marginincreased marginally by 0.8 percentage points #@m8% to 48.7%.

Operating expensesecreased by $51.0 million primarily due to the that the impact of the $45.0 million
NewMarket Corporation civil complaint settlementassociated $5.5 million legal and other professiexpenses i
2011 did not recur in 2012.

Other Income Statement Captions

Pension credit/(chargethis non-cash charge decreased to a $1.6 millibohegge in 2012 compared to a $2.9 millior
net charge in 2011, primarily as a result of lowéerest costs partly offset by a lower expectédrreon assets. Both
the 2012 and 2011 charges are after revising tleetemation of actuarial losses (see Note 2 to therictial statements).

Corporate coststhe year on year increase of 32%, or $9.3 millppimarily reflected $4.7 million higher accruals fo
share based compensation expense, driven by th@wyegaar rise in our stock price, including a $3lion higher
charge in respect of the long-term incentive pldre remainder of the increase was due to $2.7amilligher legal and
other professional expenses and $2.1 million highfermation technology service platform costs. Aisition-related
costs were $2.8 million and $3.0 million in 20121011, respectively.

Restructuring chargecomprised the following:

(in millions) 2012 2011
Reduction in EMEA headcou $0.2 $0.7
Release of an accrual in respect of the relocati@nU.S. sales and administration faci 0.C (0.2)

$0.2 $0.€

Impairment of Octane Additives segment goodwas $1.2 million and $2.0 million in 2012 and 20ddspectively.
Effective October 1, 2011, we updated the estimasesl in the detailed forecast model to calculagairment charges
to reflect the Company’s extended estimate forfahigre life of our Octane Additives segment fromcBmber 31, 2012
to December 31, 2013, resulting in a lower chafde. Octane Additives segment goodwill charge ferytbar ending
December 31, 2013 was $1.3 million.
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Profit on disposal, nefin 2012 the Company recognized $0.1 million prfdfitowing the disposal of surplus real estate

Other net income/(expens®}her net expense of $2.0 million primarily relatedosses on translation of net assets
denominated in non-functional currencies in ourdpean businesses offset by net foreign exchange gaiforeign
currency forward exchange contracts. In 2011, atleeincome of $6.3 million was comprised of $6 iliom of net
foreign currency exchange gains and gains on &#oslof net assets denominated in non-functionalencies in our
European businesses, and $0.2 million sundry akgenses.

Interest expense, nedecreased from $3.3 million to $1.2 million dughe lower average level of debt in 2012 and
losses on interest rate swaps in 2011.

Income taxe: the effective tax rate was 28.3% and 6.2% in 281@® 2011, respectively. The effective tax rateeon
adjusted for the NewMarket Corporation civil comptaettlement, adjustment of income tax provisiand for the tax
impact of acquisition-related funding, was 20.292@12 compared with 15.5% in 2011. The Companyebes that
this adjusted effective tax rate, a non-GAAP finahmeasure, provides useful information to investtind may assist
them in evaluating the Company’s underlying perfange and identifying operating trends. In additmanagement
uses this non-GAAP financial measure internallgwtaluate the performance of the Company’s opersigonl for
planning and forecasting in subsequent periods.

(in millions, except ratios’ 2012 2011
Income before income tax $93.2 $50.2
Add back NewMarket Corporation civil complaint ssthent 0.C 45.C
$93.: $95.2
Income taxe: $26.4 $ 3.1
Add back tax on NewMarket Corporation civil complasettlemen 0.C 15.7
Add back adjustment of income tax provisic (0.2 (4.0
Add back tax impact of acquisiti-related funding (7.9 _0.C
$18.¢ $14.¢
GAARP effective tax rat 28.52% 6.2%
Adjusted effective tax rat 20.2% 15.5%

In addition to those mentioned above, the followiagtors had a significant impact on the Compaejfsctive tax rate
as compared to the U.S. federal income tax ra8sei:

(in millions) 2012 2011

Foreign tax rate differenti $(15.€) $ (9.9
Foreign income inclusior 46.5 10.7
Foreign tax credit (36.5) (13.5)
Deferred tax credit from United Kingdom income tate reductior $ (0.5 $ (2.5
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The impact on the effective tax rate from profisreed in foreign jurisdictions with lower tax ratemies as the
geographical mix of the Company’s profits changesryon year. In 2012, the Company’s income tax es@®enefited
from a greater proportion of its overall profitssamg in Switzerland than in 2011. This resulteci$i12.0 million
benefit in Switzerland (2011 — $8.9 million). Indiiibn, there was a $3.3 million benefit in relatito the United
Kingdom (2011 — $0.1 million) and a $0.7 millionndit in relation to Germany (2011 — $0.9 million).

Foreign income inclusions arise each year fromagetypes of income earned overseas being taxalolerl).S. tax
regulations. These types of income include Suldpartome, principally from foreign based companigsan the
United Kingdom, including the associated Sectionag8gross up, and also from the income earnechyio overseas
subsidiaries taxable under the U.S. tax regim@0i2, the amount of Subpart F income and the assacSection 78
gross up amounted to $4.3 million (2011 — $3.0ia1i)l. The income earned by certain overseas swvgditaxable
under the U.S. tax regime increased to $2.5 milliom $2.0 million in 2011. In addition, a dividefrdm an overseas
subsidiary, remitted to the U.S., increased for@gome inclusions by $39.0 million during 2012 120- %.5 million).

Foreign tax credits can fully or partially offseese incremental U.S. taxes from foreign incomkigions. The
utilization of foreign tax credits varies year agay as this is dependent on a number of variabterawhich are
difficult to predict and may in certain years prevany offset of foreign tax credits. During 2048, overseas dividend
was remitted to the U.S. to provide funding for @@mpanys acquisition program. In total, $42.8 million oféign tax
credits were utilized during 2012 to partially @fthe incremental U.S. taxes arising from foreigrome inclusions in
the year. Of this balance, $14.2 million of foretgw credit carry forwards from earlier years wébzed. This resulted
in a decrease in the recognition of foreign taxitrearry forwards of $6.6 million during the yg2011 —a $9.4 millior
increase). The total tax cost of funding the Conyfmacquisition program was $7.4 million.

Following the United Kingdom’s 2% reduction in tb@rporation tax rate from 25% to 23% in April 20&Bacted in
July 2012, the Company benefitted from a net detetax credit of $0.5 million (2011 — $2.5 millioim)the third
quarter of 2012 primarily in relation to the deéstitax position of the United Kingdom defined bénaénsion plan.

Further details are given in Note 10 of the Notethe Consolidated Financial Statements.
LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
Working Capital

The Company believes that adjusted working camtalpn-GAAP financial measure, provides usefulrimi@tion to
investors in evaluating the Company’s underlyinggrenance and identifying operating trends. Manageinuses this
non-GAAP financial measure internally to allocaeaurces and evaluate the performance of the Corigpan
operations.

40



Table of Contents

Items excluded from the adjusted working capitédwation are listed in the table below and repn¢$actors which d
not fluctuate in line with the day to day workingpttal needs of the business.

(in millions) 2013 2012

Total current asse $ 407.¢ $ 296.€
Total current liabilities (155.6) (147.9)
Working capital 251.¢ 149.:
Less cash and cash equivale (80.2) (22.9)
Less sho-term investment (6.€) (5.2
Less current portion of deferred tax as: (8.7) (11.0)
Less prepaid income tax (11.9 0.C
Add back accrued income tax 0.C 3.2
Add back current portion of lo-term debr 5.2 5.C
Add back current portion of plant closure provis 6.2 5.1
Add back current portion of unrecognized tax bes: 6.8 3.C
Add back current portion of deferred tax liabilé 0.2 0.2
Add back current portion of deferred inco 0.2 1.4
Adjusted working capite $ 163.7 $ 128.7

In 2013 our adjusted working capital (defined by @ompany as trade and other accounts receivalkmtories,
prepaid expenses, accounts payable and accruddidalvather than total current assets less tialent liabilities)
increased by $35.0 million. In total our acquisisoof Chemsil, Chemtec and Bachman accounted fmB3illion of
the increase at December 31, 2013.

The $20.1 million increase in trade and other antoteceivable reflects increases in our Fuel $jtezs and
Performance Chemicals segments, with fourth quagties being $8.8 million and $10.8 million highesspectively,
than the fourth quarter of 2012, while the acqigisg of Chemsil, Chemtec and Bachman accountefilfd:0 million of
the increase. Days’ sales outstanding increasead 4 days to 49 days in our Fuel Specialties segmanilst they
increased from 43 days to 51 days in our Perfore&@temicals segment. Octane Additives trade aref aittounts
receivable was in line with 2012 due to the timrighipments to major customers, and the assocsatled terms of
those shipments.

The $20.6 million increase in inventories is foaigeour Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemgsdsents
following decisions to build certain product invenes of strategic importance in anticipation dife sales growth,
together with a $10.7 million increase due to axquasitions of Chemsil, Chemtec and Bachman. Dsgkgs in
inventory increased from 69 days to 79 days infuel Specialties segment, whilst declining in oerférmance
Chemicals segment over the same period from 104 we96 days being a relatively normalized yearlewd!.
Inventory in our Octane Additives segment decre&28 million due to the timing of significant shignts just prior t
the year end.
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Prepaid expenses increased $1.7 million from $4lliomto $5.8 million, primarily due to the timingf insurance
invoices and additional prepayments in our acquingsinesses of $1.0 million.

The $7.4 million increase in accounts payable amdueed liabilities was primarily due to increasesur Fuel
Specialties and Performance Chemicals segmentsegsila of the acquisitions of Chemsil, Chemtec Badhman
reflecting a $9.4 million increase year over y&neditor days in our Fuel Specialties segment as®d from 29 days
32 days and in our Performance Chemicals segmergased from 41 days to 42 days.

Operating Cash Flows

We generated cash from operating activities of $@dillion in both 2013 and 2012. Year over yearhciem operating
activities has been impacted by higher net incdavegr cash outflows for our working capital requients, and
significant movements in taxes. In 2013 our workiagital requirements increased by $16.4 milliampared to a
$20.5 million increase in 2012.

Cash

At December 31, 2013 and 2012 we had cash andecpstalents of $80.2 million and $22.4 million, pestively, of
which $73.3 million and $17.5 million, respectivelyere held by non-U.S. subsidiaries principallytia United
Kingdom. The Company is in a position to controletiter or not to repatriate foreign earnings anehnds to reinvest
earnings to fund overseas subsidiaries. We cuyrdothot expect to make a further repatriatiorhm foreseeable futu
and hence have not provided for future income taxethe cash held by overseas subsidiaries. Ificistances were to
change that would cause these earnings to be ispdtan additional U.S. tax liability could beumeed, and we
continue to monitor this position.

Short-term Investments
At December 31, 2013 and 2012 we had short-termsimvents of $6.6 million and $5.1 million, respesy.
Debt

On August 28, 2013, we amended our five-year ramgleredit facility (“the facility”). The amendmeptovides for an
increase in the facility available to the Compang aertain subsidiaries of the Company from $100anito $150
million and retains the term of the facility thrdutp December 2016. In addition, the amendmenivaitbthe Company
to request an additional amount of up to $50 nrillio be committed by the lenders, of which $30ionillwas
committed in the fourth quarter of 2013.

The current credit facility contains restrictionkieh may limit our activities, and operational dmhncial flexibility.
We may not be able to borrow if an event of defeutiutstanding,
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which includes a material adverse change to owtsssperations or financial condition. The créaliility contains a
number of restrictions that limit our ability, angather things, and subject to certain limited @tioms, to incur
additional indebtedness, pledge our assets asitsegurarantee obligations of third parties, makeestments, effect a
merger or consolidation, dispose of assets, ornmadjechange our line of business.

In addition, the credit facility contains terms wfhj if breached, would result in it becoming regagan demand. It
requires, among other matters, compliance witifdhewing financial covenant ratios measured oruartgrly basis:
(1) our ratio of net debt to EBITDA must not beajes than 2.5:1 and (2) our ratio of EBITDA to imgerest must not
be less than 4.0:1. Management has determinethin&ompany has not breached these covenants boouthpe
period to December 31, 2013 and expects to nothréeese covenants for the next 12 months. Thetdesdity is
secured by a number of fixed and floating charges oertain assets which include key operating sitdhe Company
and its subsidiaries.

As at December 31, 2013, we had $142.0 millionedftutstanding under the revolving credit facitityd $1.0 million
of debt financing within our acquired Bachman basses.

Under the terms of our September 13, 2011 settlemigm NewMarket Corporation, we issued a $15.0ioml
promissory note to NewMarket Corporation payablthiree equal annual installments (carrying simplerest at

1% per annum). The first installment was paid opt&aber 7, 2012, and the second installment paiBiemtember 9,
2013.

The debt maturity profile as at December 31, 2@13:t out below:

(in millions)
2014 G B2
2015 0.€
2016 142.1
2017 0.C
148.(
Current portion of lon-term debi (5.9
Long-term debt, net of current portic $142.%

Outlook

At December 31, 2013, the Company had cash, cashadents and shoterm investments of $86.8 million and deb
$148.0 million resulting in net debt of $61.2 nati.

The Company expects to fund its operations ovezast the next 12 months from a combination of afpeg cash flow
and its revolving credit facility. Under the crefiitility we have the ability to draw down up to8Rlmillion, with a
further $20 million to be committed by lenders. &9ecember 31, 2013, $142.0 million was drawn down
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Contractual Commitments

The following represents contractual commitmentSetember 31, 2013 and the effect of those obtigaton future
cash flows:

(in millions) Total 2014 2015-16 201718 Thereafter
Operating activitie:

Compliance monito 0.3 0.3 0.C 0.C 0.C
NewMarket promissory not 5.C 5.C 0.C 0.C 0.C
Planned funding of pension obligatic 50.€ 11.4 19.5 13.¢ 5.8
Remediation paymen 31.4 6.2 6.C 2.5 16.7
Severance paymer 1.C 0.C 1.C 0.C 0.C
Operating lease commitmer 9.t 2.7 2.€ 2.2 1.¢
Raw material purchase obligatic 3.2 3.2 0.C 0.C 0.C
Interest payments on de 3.4 11 2.2 0.C 0.C
Investing activities

Capital commitment 2.€ 2.€ 0.C 0.C 0.C
Financing activitie:

Long-term debt obligation 148.( 5.3 142, 0.C 0.C
Acquisitior-related contingent considerati 5.C 0.C 5.C 0.C 0.C
Total $260.( $37.¢ $179.1 $ 18.7 $ 244

Operating activities

Following the previously-disclosed resolution oftae government investigations and other matferther details of
which are given in Note 17 of the Notes to the @tdated Financial Statements, the Company is cdtadchto paying
associated future compliance monitor expenses.

On September 13, 2011, the Company settled the Nela¥l Corporation civil complaint. The settlemegteement
included the Company issuing a $15.0 million praoig note to NewMarket Corporation payable in thegeal annue
installments (carrying simple interest at 1% perwan), the last installment of which is scheduletegaid in
September, 2014.

The amounts related to pension obligations refénédikely levels of funding of our United Kingdodefined benefit
pension plan (the “Plan”). The Plan is closed torfe service accrual, but has a large number aroed and current
pensioners. The Company expects its annual caghitmgion to be $11.4 million in 2014-15, $8.1 ot in 2016-17
and $5.8 million in 2018-19. It is not consideredaningful to predict amounts beyond 2020 sincectheg too many
uncertainties including future returns on assedasmn increases and inflation which are evaluateeh the plan
undertakes an actuarial valuation every three years
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Remediation payments represent those cash flowshild& ompany is currently obligated to pay in extpf
environmental remediation of current and formeiflitees. It does not include any discretionary rehagion costs that
the Company may choose to incur.

Severance payments represent those cash flonthéh@ompany is currently obligated to pay in respéseverance
costs associated with exit or disposal activitied post-employment benefits.

Operating lease commitments relate primarily tacefSpace, motor vehicles and various items of ager@nd office
equipment which are expected to be renewed andaegblin the normal course of business.

Raw material purchase obligations relate to cettmg-term raw material contracts which stipulaxed or minimum
guantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or J@daaost provisions; and the approximate timingheftransaction.
Purchase obligations exclude agreements that acelzdole without penalty.

The estimated payments included in the table abeilect the variable interest charge on long-teghtabligations.
Estimated commitment fees are also included amalast income is excluded.

Due to the uncertainty regarding the nature ofatadtits, particularly those which are not currenihgerway, it is not
meaningful to predict the outcome of obligationated to unrecognized tax benefits. Further digol®ss provided in
Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finarsiatements

Investing activities

Capital commitments relate to certain capital ptge¢hat the Company has committed to undertake.

Financing activities

On December 14, 2011, we entered into a five-y@aslving credit facility (“the facility”) which preides for
borrowings of up to $100.0 million. The credit fidgican be drawn down until it expires on Decembér 2016.

On August 28, 2013, we amended the facility toease the amount available to the Company and cextdisidiaries
of the Company from $100 million to $150 milliorta@ing the term and conditions of the facilitydhgh to Decembe
2016. In addition, an amendment allowed the Compamgquest an additional amount of $50 milliol&committed
by the lenders, of which $30 million was commitiedhe fourth quarter of 2013.

On December 24, 2012, the Company acquired 100¥eofoting equity interests in Strata Control Sesi Inc. for a
consideration of approximately $60 million. Of tleisnsideration,
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$5.0 million is payable in cash in 2015 continggpdn the achievement of certain pre-determinedhirzd targets
which we currently expect to be achieved. For anting purposes only, we are required under GAARccordance
with our accounting policy, to discount this acdfios-related contingent consideration to its featue of $4.6 million.

Environmental Matters and Plant Closures

Under certain environmental laws the Company ipaasible for the remediation of hazardous substaocevastes at
currently or formerly owned or operated properties.

As most of our manufacturing operations have beenlgcted outside the U.S., we expect that liab#ytaining to the
investigation and remediation of contaminated priogeis likely to be determined under non-U.S..law

We evaluate costs for remediation, decontaminatr@hdemolition projects on a regular basis. Fulmion is made
for those costs to which we are committed undeirenmental laws amounting to $31.4 million at Detem31, 2013.
Remediation expenditure utilizing these provisia@s $1.9 million, $2.1 million and $3.1 million the years 2013,
2012 and 2011, respectively.

Total severance expenditure was $0.1 million, $@il6on and $0.7 million in the years 2013, 20121&011,
respectively.
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company uses floating rate debt to financgldbal operations. The Company is subject to bgsimsks inherent
in non-U.S. activities, including political and emnic uncertainty, import and export limitationedamarket risk
related to changes in interest rates and foreigreoay exchange rates. The political and econoisiks rare mitigated
by the stability of the countries in which the Canp’s largest operations are located. Credit linutgjoing credit
evaluation and account monitoring procedures agd ts minimize bad debt risk. Collateral is not graly required.

The Company uses derivatives, including interdst savaps, commodity swaps and foreign currencydoivexchange
contracts, in the normal course of business to g@naarket risks. The derivatives used in hedgitigides are
considered risk management tools and are not usdthfling purposes. In addition, the Company eritéo derivative
instruments with a diversified group of major fical institutions in order to manage the exposaredn-performance
of such instruments. The Company’s objective in agamg the exposure to changes in interest ratesliisit the
impact of such changes on earnings and cash flad/$calower overall borrowing costs. The Comparofigective in
managing the exposure to changes in foreign cuyrerchange rates is to reduce volatility on earniaugd cash flows
associated with such changes.

The Company offers fixed prices for some long-teates contracts. As manufacturing and raw mateosils are
subject to variability the Company uses commodigss to hedge the cost of some raw materials #uiscing
volatility on earnings and cash flows. The derivesi are considered risk management tools and aresad for trading
purposes. The Company’s objective is to managexpesure to fluctuating costs of raw materials.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company uses interest rate swaps to manageshtate exposure. As at December 31, 2013 thgp@oyrhad
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investmé®8608 million, no bank overdraft and long-ternbtef

$148.0 million (including current portion). Longrte debt comprises a revolving credit facility whigtovides for
borrowings by us of up to $200.0 million and a $million promissory note to NewMarket Corporatidine credit
facility carries an interest rate based on U.Slad@lIBOR plus a margin of between 1.50% and 2.2&8tch is
dependent on the Company’s ratio of net debt tolBBl. Net debt and EBITDA are non-GAAP measuresadidity
defined in the credit facility. The promissory nataries simple interest at 1% per annum. At De@ar8ih, 2013,
$142.0 million was drawn under the revolving crdddility. As management does not expect the cifaditity to be
drawn down in the long-term, the Company has ntdred into interest rate swap agreements in relatidhis.

On the basis that interest on $5.0 million of tAd&0 million long-term debt (including current pon) is fixed and
that the Company would receive interest on the&#8#llion positive cash balances and short-ternegtments, then
the interest payable on variable debt
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(excluding the margin) exceeds the interest rebdévan positive cash balances and short-term imastis. On a gross
basis, assuming no additional interest on the batinces and sharm investments, a hypothetical absolute chan
1% in U.S. base interest rates on the variable afeb143.0 million for a one-year period would ingpaet income and
cash flows by approximately $1.4 million before.t®n a net basis, assuming additional intereshercash balances
and short-term investments, a hypothetical absaluémge of 1% in U.S. base interest rates for ayeae period would
impact net income and cash flows by approximatély $nillion before tax.

The above does not consider the effect of inteneskchange rate changes on overall activity naragament action to
mitigate such changes.

Exchange Rate Risk

The Company generates an element of its revenuemams some operating costs in currencies ottaar the U.S.
dollar. The reporting currency of the Company e thS. dollar.

The Company evaluates the functional currency ofi @aporting unit according to the economic envinent in which
it operates. Several major subsidiaries of the Gomperating outside of the U.S. have the U.Sadak their
functional currency due to the nature of the markewhich they operate. In addition, the finangiasition and results
of operations of some of our overseas subsidianeseported in the relevant local currency and trenslated to U.S.
dollars at the applicable currency exchange ratenfdusion in our consolidated financial statensent

The primary foreign currencies in which we havehaxge rate fluctuation exposure are the Europeaonléuro,
British pound sterling and Swiss franc. Changesxithange rates between these foreign currenciethand.S. dollar
will affect the recorded levels of our assets aallilities, to the extent that such figures reflédet inclusion of foreign
assets and liabilities which are translated int8.\dollars for presentation in our consolidatedficial statements, as
well as our results of operations.

The Company’s objective in managing the exposufertign currency fluctuations is to reduce earsiagd cash flow
volatility associated with foreign currency exchamgte changes. Accordingly, the Company enteosviatious
contracts that change in value as foreign currexchange rates change to protect the U.S. dollaed its existing
foreign currency denominated assets, liabilitiesnmitments, and cash flows. The Company also usegyh currency
forward exchange contracts to offset a portiorhef€Company’s exposure to certain foreign curreraydinated
revenues so that gains and losses on these centfésdt changes in the U.S. dollar value of thatee foreign currenc
denominated revenues. The objective of the hedgiogram is to reduce earnings and cash flow vaiatitlated to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

The trading of our Fuel Specialties and Performa@lzemicals reporting segments is inherently ndiureddged and
accordingly changes in exchange rates would notdterial
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to our earnings or financial position. The costebasour Octane Additives reporting segment ang@@te costs,
however, are largely denominated in British poutedli®ig. A 5% strengthening in the U.S. dollar aghiBritish pound
sterling would increase reported operating incomagproximately $2.6 million for a one-year per@xtluding the
impact of any foreign currency forward exchangetiamts.

Where a 5% strengthening of the U.S. dollar has lbsed as an illustration, a 5% weakening wouldxpected to ha
the opposite effect on operating income.

Raw Material Cost Risk

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amutggnin our manufacturing and blending processesywbf the raw
materials that we use are derived from petrochdrbigsed feedstocks which can be subject to penbdspid and
significant cost instability. These fluctuationsciost can be caused by political instability ingribducing nations and
elsewhere, or other factors influencing global $ymd demand of these materials, over which wes mavor little
control. We use long-term contracts (generally vikbd or formula-based costs) and advance bulklmses to help
ensure availability and continuity of supply, andrtanage the risk of cost increases. We have ehigieehedging
arrangements for certain raw materials, but daymcally enter into hedging arrangements for al materials,
chemicals or energy costs. Should the costs ofmaterials, chemicals or energy increase, and shveeldot be able to
pass on these cost increases to our customersppleeating margins and cash flows from operatirtyiéies would be
adversely impacted. Should raw material costs asgesignificantly, then the Compasyieed for working capital cot
similarly increase. Any of these risks could adegrsmpact our results of operations, financialipos and cash flows.
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Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimgm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Innggec Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Innospec Inc. and its subsidiariesm@$pec”) as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related cdiasedl statements of income, comprehensive incohe an
accumulated other comprehensive loss, cash floadsttkholders’ equity for each of the years inttireeyear perioc
ended December 31, 2013. We also have auditedpengsnternal control over financial reporting as efdember 31
2013, based on criteria establishedhiternal Control — Integrated Framewo(k992) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis&idSO). Innospec’s management is responsiblénéset
consolidated financial statements, for maintaireffgctive internal control over financial reportjrand for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal coatret financial reporting, included in the accomyag
“Management’s Report on Internal Control Over FriahReporting” appearing in item 9A of the FormH0Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesesobdated financial statements and an opiniomoiespec’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafelqUnited
States). Those standards require that we plan aridrp the audits to obtain reasonable assuranmat athether the
financial statements are free of material misstatgrand whether effective internal control oveafinial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditthefconsolidated financial statements included éxag, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and diséssn the financial statements, assessing theuatiog principles
used and significant estimates made by managewrmahgvaluating the overall financial statement gmétion. Our
audit of internal control over financial reportingluded obtaining an understanding of internalta@rover financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weskexists, and testing and evaluating the desidgoperating
effectiveness of internal control based on thesssskrisk. Our audits also included performing satbler procedures
we considered necessary in the circumstances. Weyd¢hat our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the pegption of financial statements for external pugsos accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A comfsimgernal control over financial reporting inckglthose policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenahoecords that, in reasonable detail, accuratety/fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets afdhgany; (2) provide reasonable assurance thadcéions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation afidiahstatements in accordance with generally aedepccounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures@tbmpany are being made only in accordance withoazations of
management and directors of the company; and (8)ge reasonable
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assurance regarding prevention or timely deteaifamauthorized acquisition, use, or dispositiothef company’s
assets that could have a material effect on ttenéial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal coh@iver financial reporting may not prevent or @étaisstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesés future periods are subject to the risk thatrats may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, btitbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpdures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all maleespects, the
financial position of Innospec as of December 3M,and 2012, and the results of its operationstarwhsh flows for
each of the years in the three- year period endextidber 31, 2013, in conformity with U.S. generaltgepted
accounting principles. Also in our opinion, Innospeaintained, in all material respects, effectiveiinal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, basedriteria established inmternal Control — Integrated Framework
(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatairthe Treadway Commission.

Innospec acquired Chemsil Silicones Inc. (“Chemsitid Chemtec Chemical Co. (“Chemteat) August 30, 2013, al
acquired Bachman Services Inc., Specialty Interarezh Inc., Bachman Production Specialties Inc.Bachman
Drilling & Production Specialties Inc. (collectigeiBachman”) on November 4, 2013, and managemetitidgd from
its assessment of the effectiveness of Innospetgsnal control over financial reporting as of Daxer 31, 2013,
Chemsil’'s, Chemtec’s and Bachman'’s internal cordver financial reporting associated with totaleasof $126.0
million and total revenues of $21.5 million inclubli® the consolidated financial statements of Ipeasas of and for
the year ended December 31, 2013. Our audit afateontrol over financial reporting of Innospéscaexcluded an
evaluation of the internal control over financi@porting of Chemsil, Chemtec and Bachman.

/sl KPMG Audit Plc
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 13, 2014
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in_millions, except share and per share data

Net sales
Cost of goods sol
Gross profi

Operating expense
Selling, general and administrati
Research and developme
Restructuring charg

Impairment of Octane Additives segment good

Profit on disposal, ne
Total operating expens
Operating incom
Other net income/(expens
Interest expens
Interest incom

Income before income tax
Income taxe:

Net income

Earnings per shar
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousa
Basic

Diluted

Dividend declared per common sh.

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtegements.

52

Years ended December 3

2013

$ 818.¢
(563.6)
255

(141.9
(21.9)
(0.2)
(1.3)
0.C
(164.6)
90.€
4.1
(2.3)
0.4
92.
15.0)
77.

5
G

&+
m

&+

3.2
3.2

({g]

&~

N

23,65.
24,15¢

0.5

&+
')

2012
$ 776.
(540.0)
236.2

(119.0)
(19.6)
(0.2)
(1.2)
0.1
(139.9
96.F
(2.0)
(1.6)
0.€
93.:
26.2)
$ 66.C

2011

$ 774.¢
(548.0)
226.4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in_millions )

Total comprehensive income for the years ended Denber 31

Net income

Changes in cumulative translation adjustn

Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on derivaisteuments, net of tax «
$0.0 million, $0.0 million and $0.3 million, respaely

Deferred taxe®

Amortization of prior service credit, net of tax$®@.3 million, $0.3 million an
$0.4 million, respectivel

Amortization of actuarial net losses, net of taxX$(.4) million, $(0.8) millior
and $(0.7) million, respective

Actuarial net (losses)/gains arising during theryaat of tax of $1.8 million
$17.8 million and $(6.6) million, respective

Total comprehensive incon
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in_millions )

Accumulated other comprehensive loss for the yeaended
December 31

Cumulative translation adjustme

Unrealized gains on derivative instruments, naagfof $0.0 million, $0.(
million and $0.0 million, respective

Unrecognized actuarial net losses, net of tax 6f$&illion, $36.2 million
and $18.9 million, respective

Accumulated other comprehensive |

2013 2012 2011
$ 776 $ 66¢ § 47.1
1.2 7.2 (3.9
(0.1) (0.1) (0.7)
0.C 0.C (2.6)
(1.0 (1.0 (0.9
4.8 2.4 2.C
(6.7) (58.5) 19.F
$ 76 $ 16¢ $ 60.E
2013 2012 2011
$(337) $ (349 §$ (42))
0.C 0.1 0.2
(120  (117.9 (60.2)
$(153.9  $(152.)  $(102.])

(1) Impact on deferred taxes during the year emasgbmber 31, 2011 of a change in the associate@tebon the unrecognized actuarial ne

losses

The accompanying notes are an integral part okteegements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in_millions, except share and per share data

Assets

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment

Trade and other accounts receivable (less alloveaoic$2.0 and $1.9, respective
Inventories (less allowances of $9.5 and $8.9,aetbgely):

Finished good
Work in progres:
Raw material
Total inventories
Current portion of deferred tax ass
Prepaid expenst
Prepaid income taxe
Total current asse
Property, plant and equipme
Goodwill
Other intangible asse
Deferred finance cos
Deferred tax assets, net of current por
Other noi-current asset

Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Accrued income taxe
Current portion of lon-term debt
Current portion of plant closure provisic
Current portion of unrecognized tax bene
Current portion of deferred tax liabiliti
Current portion of deferred incon
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portic
Plant closure provisions, net of current por
Unrecognized tax benefits, net of current por
Deferred tax liabilities, net of current porti
Pension liabilities
Acquisitior-related contingent considerati
Other nor-current liabilities
Deferred income, net of current porti

Stockholder' equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 40,0@0sb@res, issued 29,554,500 shi

Additional paic-in capital

Treasury stock (5,207,947 and 6,222,076 sharessatrespectively

Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive |

Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part okteegements.

At December 31

2013

$ 80.2
6.€
135.¢

95.:

2012

$ 227
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in_millions )
Years ended December 3
2013 2012 2011
Cash Flows from Operating Activiti¢
Net income $ T77.¢ $ 66.C $ 471
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigen by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 20.2 11t 14.£
Impairment of Octane Additives segment good 1.2 1.2 2.C
Deferred taxe 5.& 12.1 (4.€)
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraages (3.9 (2.2 (1.2
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipmest 0.C (0.7 0.C
Cash contributions to defined benefit pension p (11.0 (9.9 (9.5
Non-cash expense of defined benefit pension 3.C 2.C 3.4
Stock option compensatic 2.t 3.1 3.1
(Repayment)/issue of promissory note in civil coanpi settlemen (5.0 (5.0 15.C
Non-cash issue of treasury stock in civil complaintlegtent 0.C 0.C 5.C
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effettcquired and divested
companies
Trade and other accounts receive (1.9 (14.7) (15.9)
Inventories (10.7) (2.0 (14.3)
Prepaid expenst (0.5 0.1 0.C
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (4.9 (5.9 (13.9)
Accrued income taxe (24.9) aL{e (4.2)
Plant closure provisior 1.¢ 1.8 11
Unrecognized tax benefi 0.2 0.2 4.C
Other noi-current assets and liabiliti 0.7 (1.3 2.2
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activi 61.2 61.3 34.1
Cash Flows from Investing Activitie
Capital expenditure (12.0) (8.8 (7.0
Business combinations, net of cash acqu (94.9 (53.0) 0.C
Internally developed software and other ct (9.9 (8.5 (3.2
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equip 0.1 0.2 0.C
Purchase of she-term investment (7.0 (5.0 (5.0
Sale of sho-term investment 5.7 4.9 4.4
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activi (116.]) (70.9 (10.9)
Cash Flows from Financing Activitie
Proceeds from revolving credit facili 145.( 18.C 51.C
Repayments of revolving credit facili (23.0 (18.0 (38.0
Repayment of term loat (0.2 0.C (40.0
Refinancing cost (0.9 0.C (1.7
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraages 3.E 2.2 1.1
Dividend paid (12.0 (46.7) 0.C
Issue of treasury stoc 3.E 1.2 0.7
Repurchase of common stc (3.9 (1.9 (28.7)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activi 112.¢ (44.7) (55.0
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changesash (0.2) (0.7) 0.1
Net change in cash and cash equival 57.¢ (53.9 (30.9
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 22.4 76.2 107.]
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ' $ 80.2 $ 22/ $ T76.2

Amortization of deferred finance costs of $0.4 il (2012 — $0.4 million, 2011 — $0.5 million) fthre year are included in depreciation and
amortization in the cash flow statement but inrie$é expense in the income statement. Cash payfrezeipts in respect of income taxes and
interest are disclosed in Note 10 and Note 11 ectspely.

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtegements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in_millions )
Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Common Treasury Retained Comprehensive Stockholders
Paid-In
Stock Capital Stock Earnings Loss Equity

Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 03 $ 286. $ (645 $ 210t $ (1316 $ 300.7
Revision of prior period (Note : (16.7) 16.1 0.C
Revised beginning balan 0.3 286.: (64.¢) 194.¢ (115.9 300.7
Net income 47.1 47.1
Changes in cumulative translation

adjustmen 3.9 (3.9
Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on

derivative instruments, net of ti (0.7) (0.7)
Treasury stock rissuec 0.¢ 4.8 5.7
Treasury stock repurchas (28.7) (28.7)
Stock option compensatic 4.3 4.2
Deferred taxe® (2.6) (2.6)
Amortization of prior service credit, net ¢

tax (0.9 0.9
Amortization of actuarial net losses, net of

tax 2.C 2.C
Actuarial net gains arising during the yei

net of tax 19.5 19.F
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 02 $ 291t $ (881 $ 241t % (102.) % 343.]
Net income 66.¢ 66.¢
Dividend paid ($2.00 per shat (46.7) (46.7)
Changes in cumulative translation

adjustmen 7.2 7.2
Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on

derivative instruments, net of ti (0.7) (0.2
Treasury stock rissuec (3.5 4.t 1.C
Treasury stock repurchas (1.9 (1.9
Stock option compensatic 2.1 2.1
Fair value of Strata acquisition-related

contingently issuable shar 2.C 2.C
Amortization of prior service credit, net ¢

tax (2.0 (1.0
Amortization of actuarial net losses, net of

tax 2.4 2.4
Actuarial net losses arising during the ye

net of tax (58.5) (58.5)
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 03 $ 2921 $ (850 $ 261.7 $ (152.) % 317.(
Net income 77.¢ 77.¢
Dividend paid ($0.50 per shat (12.0 (12.0)
Changes in cumulative translation

adjustmen 1.2 1.2
Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on

derivative instruments, net of ti (0.7) (0.7
Treasury stock rissuec 4.2 8.E 4.€
Treasury stock repurchas (3.7 3.7
Excess tax benefit from stock based

payment arrangemer 3.8 3.8
Stock option compensatic 2.t 2.t
Fair value of Bachman acquisition-relate

consideratior 10.t 4.k 15.C
Fair value of Chemsil acquisition-related

consideratior 4.1 2.1 6.2
Amortization of prior service credit, net ¢

tax (2.0 (1.0

Amortization of actuarial net losses, net of



tax 4.8 4.¢
Actuarial net losses arising during the ye

net of tax (6.7) (6.7)
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 0.2 $ 308¢f $ (73 $ 327 0% (153.9 % 409.¢

(1) Impact on deferred taxes of a change in the adsalciax rate on the unrecognized actuarial neei
The accompanying notes are an integral part obtegements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Nature of Operations

Innospec develops, manufactures, blends, markdtsugplies fuel additives, personal care and fragggroducts and
other specialty chemicals. Our products are saldaoly to oil refineries, personal care and fragra companies, and
other chemical and industrial companies throughioeitvorld. Our fuel additives help improve fuelie#ncy, boost
engine performance and reduce harmful emissionso{lield specialties business supplies drillimgdgproduction
chemicals which make exploration and productionevamst-efficient, and more environmentally-friendBur other
specialty chemicals provide effective technologgdezhsolutions for our customemocesses or products focused in
Personal Care; Polymers; and Fragrance Ingredieaitkets. Our principal product lines and reportaeigments are
Fuel Specialties, Performance Chemicals and Ocddéives.

See Note 3 for financial information on the Compamgportable segments.
Note 2. Accounting Policies
Revision of Prior Years

In connection with the preparation of the consaéddinancial statements for the fourth quarte2@f3, the Company
identified an error in the treatment of the amatiizn of actuarial net losses. The Company detexdhihat the Market
Related Value of Assets (“MRVA”) for Innospec Limd's United Kingdom Pension Plan has been overstaiehl yea
since 2003. The market-related value of plan asseither fair value if the employer does not def@ns or losses on
plan assets, or a calculated value that recoguolzasges in fair value in a systematic and ratiomahner over not more
than five years, when the expected long-term ratetarn is used to determine net periodic postatient benefit cost.
The overstated MRVA is used to determine the siZéhe corridor” under GAAP which has resulted m a
understatement of amortization of actuarial netdgswithin the pension expense each year since Z0@lerror affect
the non-cash pension expenses in the financi@mtaits for the years ended 2012 and 2011 as rdportieis 2013
Form 10-K. For quarterly reporting purposes the famnual non-cash pension expense adjustmenteasréflected
in the fourth quarter for each year as the impadhe individual quarters is not considered to laeemal.

The Company has applied SEC Staff Accounting BullEGAB) No. 108, Considering the Effects of Pritear
Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements inr€hirYear Financial Statements. SAB No. 108 stiizis
registrants must quantify the impact of correcttignisstatements, including both the carryovesr(icurtain method)
and reversing (rollover method) effects of prioayenisstatements on the current-year financia¢stants, and by
evaluating the error measured under each methlighinof quantitative and qualitative factors.

Under SAB No. 108, prior-year misstatements whiicborrected in the current year would be matewahe current
year, must be corrected by adjusting prior yearfaial statements, even though such correctionqursly was and

continues to be immaterial to the prior-year finahstatements. Correcting prior-year financiatestaents for such

“immaterial errors” does not require previouslheflireports to be amended.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

In accordance with accounting guidance presenté®ia 250-10 (SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 98ateriality),
the Company assessed the materiality of the engcancluded that it was not material to any of@oenpany’s
previously issued financial statements taken ab@eav

Innospec has calculated the understatement ofdheash pension expense, net of tax, to be $16libmas at
1 January 2011, $1.8 million in 2011 and $1.4 willin 2012. Adjustments have been made as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 201

As
Previously
(in millions) Reported Adjustment As Revisel
Selling, general and administrative expenses $ (117.)) $ (1.9 $ (119.0
Operating incom 98.4 (1.9 96.5
Income before income tax 95.2 (1.9 93.c
Income taxe: (26.9) 0.t (26.4)
Net income 68.S (1.9 66.¢
Retained earning 281.( (219.9) 261.7
Accumulated other comprehensive | (171.9 19.2 (152.7)
Year Ended December 31, 201
As
Previously
(in millions) Reported Adjustment As Revisel
Selling, general and administrative exper $ (155.9 $ (2.9 $ (158.9)
Operating incom 49.€ (2.9 47 .2
Income before income tax 52.€ (2.9 50.2
Income taxe: (3.7 0.€ (3.2
Net income 48.€ (1.8 47.1
Retained earninc 259.¢ (17.9 241.%
Accumulated other comprehensive | (120.0 17.€ (202.7)
As at January 1, 2011
As
Previously
(in millions) Reported Adjustment As Revisel
Retained earning $ 210t $ (16.]) $ 194.
Accumulated other comprehensive | (131.¢) 16.1 (115.5)

Basis of preparationThe consolidated financial statements have begraped in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Arm@@nd include all
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

subsidiaries of the Company where the Company ltasitaolling financial interest. All significanttercompany
accounts and balances have been eliminated upsolatation. All acquisitions are accounted for asghases and the
results of operations of the acquired businessesaluded in the consolidated financial statemé&ots the date of
acquisition.

Use of estimatesthe preparation of the consolidated financial stetets, in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Am&rrequires management to make estimates and pissasthat
affect the amounts reported in the consolidateahitial statements and accompanying notes. Actaaltsecould differ
from those estimates.

Cash equivalentdnvestment securities with maturities of three nherir less when purchased are considered to be
cash equivalents.

Short-term investmentivestment securities with maturities of more tBamonths and less than 12 months when
purchased are considered to be short-term investmen

Trade and other accounts receivabldie Company records trade and other accounts edaleiat net realizable value
and maintains allowances for customers not maleggired payments. The Company determines the adggfia
allowances by periodically evaluating each custoraeeeivable considering our customer’s financialditon, credit
history and current economic conditions.

Inventories:inventories are stated at the lower of cost (FIF@hmd) or market value. Cost includes materiatsdanc
an appropriate proportion of plant overheads. The@any accrues volume discounts where it is prebtdait the
required volume will be attained and the amountlmaneasonably estimated. The discounts are red¢@sla reduction
in the cost of materials based on projected pusshaser the period of the agreement. Inventoriesdjusted for
estimated obsolescence and written down to magkaeewased on estimates of future demand and mawkeitions.

Property, plant and equipmerProperty, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is provided over the estimated udefas of the assets using the straight-line methadl is allocated
between cost of goods sold and operating expelmbescost of additions and improvements are capédli
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expensesn Afsets are sold or retired the associated mostc@umulated
depreciation are removed from the consolidatechfired statements and any related gain or loslsded in earnings.
The estimated useful lives of the major classedepfeciable assets are as follows:

Buildings 7 to 25 yeat
Equipment 3 to 10 yeat

Goodwill and other intangible assetSoodwill and other intangible assets deemed to redefinite lives are not
amortized but are subject to at least annual impexit tests based on
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

projected post-tax cash flows discounted at the gamy's weighted average cost of capital. The anmegsurement
date for impairment testing of the goodwill relatito the Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemsegmsents is
December 31. At this date we performed annual impant tests and concluded that there had been pairiment of
goodwill in respect of those reporting segmente Tompany capitalizes software development castijding
licenses, subsequent to the establishment of témipcal feasibility. Other intangible assets deerteetlave finite lives,
including software development costs and licensesamortized using the straight-line method okeirtestimated
useful lives and tested for any potential impairtngnen events occur or circumstances change whighest that an
impairment may have occurred.

Deferred finance costThe costs relating to debt financing are capitdlizeparately disclosed in the consolidated
balance sheets and amortized using the effectteecist method over the expected life of the detatricing facility.

Impairment of lon-lived assetsThe Company reviews the carrying value of its Itimgd assets, including buildings
and equipment, whenever changes in circumstangggstuthat the carrying values may be impairedrder to
facilitate this test the Company groups togetheetssat the lowest possible level for which castv ihformation is
available. Undiscounted future cash flows expetde@sult from the assets are compared with theyicarvalue of the
assets and if they are lower an impairment loss lbeaecognized. The amount of the impairment Ieska difference
between the fair value and the carrying value efabsets. Fair values are determined using posakdxflows
discounted at the Company’s weighted average ¢astpital.

Derivative instrumentsThe Company uses various derivative instrumentsidireg forward currency contracts, optic
interest rate swaps and commodity swaps to maregac exposures. These instruments are enteredimter the
Company’s corporate risk management policy to miménexposure and are not for speculative tradinggaes. The
Company recognizes all derivatives as either naneatiassets or liabilities in the consolidatedabak sheet and
measures those instruments at fair value. Changée ifair value of derivatives that are not deatgd as hedges, or do
not meet the requirements for hedge accounting:eaagnized in earnings. Derivatives which areglestied as hedges
are tested for effectiveness on a quarterly basid,marked to market. The ineffective portion & tkerivatives chang:
in value is recognized in earnings. The effectiggipn is recognized in other comprehensive incomid the hedged
item is recognized in earnings.

Environmental compliance and remediatiEnvironmental compliance costs include ongoing teaiance, monitoring
and similar costs. We recognize environmental liizds when they are probable and costs can benaddy estimated,
and asset retirement obligations when there igal l@bligation and costs can be reasonably estin&ech accruals a
adjusted as further information develops or circiamses change. Costs of future obligations areodiged to their
present values using the Company’s credit-adjuss&efree rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Acquisitior-related contingent and deferred consideratiBeferred consideration payable in cash is discaliutats
fair value. Where deferred consideration is corgirigipon predetermined financial targets, an estimate of tivevidue
of the likely consideration payable is made. Thustlgent deferred consideration is re-assessedbdigrand a
corresponding adjustment is recognized in operatiogme, and the associated liability, to refléet passage of time
accretion expense and any revisions to the amauihimg of the initial measurement.

Revenue recognitiorThe Company supplies products to customers fromaii®us manufacturing sites, and in some
instances from containers held on customer site$gua variety of standard shipping terms and ¢mmdi. In each cas
revenue is recognized when legal title, which iBndel and generally accepted in the standard tamdsconditions, an
risk of loss transfers between the Company andukeomer. Provisions for sales discounts and rsltateustomers a
based upon the terms of sales contracts and ayedeztin the same period as the related salesleduction from
revenue. The Company estimates the provision fesshscounts and rebates based on the terms loflag@aeement at
the time of shipping.

Components of net saleall amounts billed to customers relating to shigpand handling are classified as net
sales. Shipping and handling costs incurred byCiipany are classified as cost of goods sold.

Components of cost of goods sdlist of goods sold is comprised of raw materiatcoxluding inbound freight, duty
and non-recoverable taxes, inbound handling casisciéated with the receipt of raw materials, patig@qaterials,
manufacturing costs including labor costs, maimeeraand utility costs, plant and engineering ovadiseamortization
expense for certain other intangible assets, waighg and outbound shipping costs and handlingsctistentory
losses and provisions and the costs of customienslare also recognized in the cost of goods tem.i

Components of selling, general and administratixeeasesSelling expenses comprise the costs of the disdess
force, and the sales management and customer selpartments required to support them. It alsgocises
commission charges, the costs of sales conferemmkgade shows, the cost of advertising and promst
amortization expense for certain other intangilsisets, and the cost of bad and doubtful debts. r@lesred
administrative expenses comprise the cost of safiyoctions including accounting, human resouragsymation
technology and the cost of group functions inclgdinrporate management, finance, tax, treasurgstov relations
and legal departments. Provision of managemenstdstimate of legal and settlement costs forditan in which the
Company is involved is made and reported in theiadinative expense line item.

Research and development expenResearch, development and testing costs are expantige income statement as
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Earnings per shareBasic earnings per share is based on the weightrdge number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share ietuthe effect of options that are dilutive andstautding during the
period.

Foreign currenciesThe Company’s policy is that foreign exchange défeces arising on the translation of the balanc
sheets of entities that have functional currenotiasr than the U.S. dollar are taken to a sepaudy reserve, the
cumulative translation adjustment. In entities vehigre U.S. dollar is the functional currency nangair losses on
translation occur, and gains or losses on moneissgts relating to currencies other than the Wigardare taken to the
income statement in other net income/(expensee@tneign exchange gains or losses are also iadludother net
income/(expense) in the income statement.

Share based compensation plaiilke Company accounts for employee stock optionsstouk equivalent units under
the fair value method. Stock options are fair vdlaethe grant date and the fair value is recoghsteight-line over
the vesting period of the option. Stock equivalamts are fair valued at each balance sheet dat¢harfair value is
spread over the remaining vesting period of thé uni

Pension plans and other p-employment benefit$he Company recognizes the funded status of debeeéfit post-
retirement plans on the consolidated balance sh@etshanges in the funded status in comprehemsivene. The
measurement date of the plan’s funded status isaime as the Company’s fiscal year-end. Prior seasts and
credits and actuarial gains and losses are amodrnbizer the average remaining life expectancy ofribetive
participants using the corridor method.

Income taxesThe Company provides for income taxes by recoggidieferred tax assets and liabilities for the etqut
future tax consequences of temporary differencésdsn the financial statement carrying amountsthadelevant tax
bases of the assets and liabilities. When apprigptiae Company evaluates the need for a valuatiowance to reduc
deferred tax assets. The Company recognizes ftaurgenefits to the extent that realization of shehefits is more
likely than not. The effect on deferred taxes change in tax rates is recognized in the periotlititdudes the
enactment date. Income tax positions must meetra fikely than not recognition criteria to be renagd. The
Company recognizes accrued interest and penaisexi@ted with uncertain tax positions as parhodime taxes in our
consolidated statements of income.

Note 3. Segmental Reporting and Geographical AeeData

Innospec divides its business into three segmentsdnagement and reporting purposes: Fuel SpesiaRerformanc
Chemicals and Octane Additives. The Fuel Specsa#trel Performance Chemicals segments operate keteavhere
we actively seek growth opportunities althoughrtimtimate customers are different. The Octane fdes segment is
generally characterized by volatile and decliniegndnd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

In 2013, the Company had a significant customénénFuel Specialties segment, Royal Dutch Shelapttits affiliate
(“Shell”), which accounted for $83.1 million (10%)} our net group sales. In 2012 and 2011, Shebwaated for $82.9
million (11%) and $78.7 million (10%) of our netogip sales, respectively.

The Company evaluates the performance of its sefgnbased on operating income. The following tablelyzes sales
and other financial information by the Company’sagable segments:

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie $567.¢ $527.2 $521.2
Performance Chemica 192.¢ 179.¢ 177.C
Octane Additive: 59.C 69.€ 76.2

$818.¢ $776.4 $774.¢

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $181.1 $158.% $149.:
Performance Chemica 46.¢ 43.¢ 40.¢€
Octane Additive: 27.¢ 33.¢C 36.5

$255.2 $236.4 $226.4

Operating income:

Fuel Specialtie $927 $87.€ $8l7
Performance Chemica 23.€ 24.: 22.¢
Octane Additive: 21.t 26.C (22.9)
Pension credit/(charg (2.9 (1.6 (2.9
Corporate cost (43.9 (38.5) (29.2)
Restructuring charg (0.2) (0.2 (0.6)
Impairment of Octane Additives segment good (1.9 (1.2 (2.0)
Profit on disposal, ne 0.C 0.1 0.C
Total operating incom $ 90.€ $ 96.5 $ 47.2
Identifiable assets at year end

Fuel Specialtie $446.4 $356.€ $281.5
Performance Chemica 176.¢ 113. 106.7
Octane Additive: 42.C 48.¢ 51.t
Corporate 128.¢ 60.5 129.]

$794.( $579.4 $568.¢

The pension charge relates to the United Kingdofimel@ benefit pension plan which is closed to fatservice accrue
The charges related to our other much smaller paresirangements in the U.S. and overseas are gttindhe
segment and income statement captions consisténtive related employees’ costs.
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The Company includes within the corporate cosesiliem the costs of:
* managing the Group as a company with securitieedlisn the NASDAQ and registered with the S

» the President/CE’s office, group finance, group human resourceymtegal and compliance counsel, i
investor relations

* running the corporate offices in the U.S. and Ear

» the corporate development function since they daelate to the current trading activities of otiner
reporting segments; al

» the corporate share of the information technoleggounting and human resources departm

Sales by geographical area are reported by sowmtoer¢ the transactions originate) and by destingtMhere the final
sales to customers are made). Intercompany sagwiaed to recover cost plus an appropriate marteuprofit and
are eliminated in the consolidated financial statets.

Identifiable assets are those directly associatddtive operations of the geographical area.

Goodwill has not been allocated by geographicatioo on the grounds that it would be impracticabldo so.

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Net sales by source

United State: $276.] $274.1 $ 265.¢
United Kingdom 502.¢ 475.] 482.¢
Rest of Europt 129.] 142.¢ 151.5
Other 0.2 0.t 0.c
Sales between are (89.0 (116.]) (126.6)

$818.¢ $ 776.4 $774.4

Net sales by destination

United State: $278.7 $272.¢ $ 248.2
United Kingdom 30.C 38.¢ 48.5
Rest of Europt 325.¢ 331.( 304.2
Other 184.¢ 134.z 173.5

$818.¢ $ 776.4 $ 774.4
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(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Income before income taxes

United State: $100 $ 5€ $(42€
United Kingdom 43.7 36.5 36.€
Rest of Europt 40.£ 52.¢ 58.2
Impairment of Octane Additives segment good (1.3 (1.2 (2.0

$ 92.¢ $ 93.: $ 50.2

Long-lived assets at year enc

United State: $148.2 $ 31t % 22C
United Kingdom 29.Z 28.7 32.4
Rest of Europt 11.t 11.5 10.€

$189.1 $ 717 $ 65.5

Identifiable assets at year end

United State: $291.( $174.1 $123.2
United Kingdom 261.5 192.] 253.¢
Rest of Europt 53.2 63.¢ 49.¢
Other 0.4 0.4 0.t
Goodwill 187.¢ 149.( 141.t

$794.( $579.4 $568.¢

Note 4. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weightsrdge number of common shares outstanding dummg@eriod.
Diluted earnings per share includes the effectptibos that are dilutive and outstanding duringgkedod. Per share
amounts are computed as follows:

2013 2012 2011

Numerator (in millions):

Net income available to common stockholc $ 77.E $ 66.C $ 47.1
Denominator (in thousands):

Weighted average common shares outstar 23,65! 23,18. 23,56¢
Dilutive effect of stock options and awat 50E 663 952
Denominator for diluted earnings per sh 24,15¢ 23,85( 24,52(
Net income per share, basic $ 3.2¢ $ 2.8¢ $ 2.0C
Net income per share, diluted $ 3.2C $ 2.81 $ 1.92

In 2013, 2012 and 2011 the average number of dativé options excluded from the calculation olutked earnings
per share were nil, 1,380 and 690 respectively.
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Note 5. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment consists of the ¥ahg:

(in millions) 2013 2012
Land $ 7E $ 7.2
Buildings 10.¢ 6.5
Equipment 152.¢ 129.(
Work in progres: 3.€ 3.5
175.1 146.2
Less accumulated depreciati (114.% (96.9
$ 60.4 $ 49.¢

Of the total net book value of equipment at Decen3de 2013 and 2012 no amounts are in respectsetabeld under
capital leases.

Depreciation charges were $8.9 million, $7.0 millend $9.2 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respebti
The estimated additional cost to complete workragpess is $2.2 million (2012 — $2.7 million).
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Note 6. Goodwill
The following table analyzes goodwill for 2013 &2l 2.

Performance

Fuel Octane
(in millions) Specialtie: Chemicals Additives Total
At January 1, 201
Gross cos® $ 108.¢ $ 30.1 $ 236.¢ $ 375.t
Accumulated impairment loss 0.C 0.C (234.0 (234.0)
Net book amour 108.¢ 30.1 2.€ 141.5
Exchange effec 0.1 0.C (0.1 0.C
Acquisitions 8.7 0.C 0.C 8.7
Impairment losse 0.C 0.C (1.2) (1.2
At December 31, 201
Gross cosw 117.¢ 30.1 236.5 384.2
Accumulated impairment loss 0.C 0.C (235.9) (235.7)
Net book amour 117.¢ 30.1 1.2 149.(
Exchange effec 0.C 0.C 0.C 0.C
Acquisitions 22.¢ 16.7 0.C 39.€
Adjustments to purchase price allocat 0.€ 0.C 0.C 0.€
Impairment losse 0.C 0.C (1.9 (1.3
At December 31, 201
Gross cosw 141.] 46.¢ 236.5 424 ¢
Accumulated impairment loss 0.C 0.C (236.5) (236.5
Net book amour $ 141.] $ 46.€ $ 0.C $ 187.¢

(1) Gross cost is net of $8.7 million, $0.3 milliand $289.5 million of historical accumulated anzation in respect of the Fuel Specialties,
Performance Chemicals and Octane Additives reppe@gments, respective

The Company’s reporting units, the level at whidodwill is tested for impairment, are consistenhvihe reportable
segments: Fuel Specialties, Performance Chemindl©atane Additives. The components in each seg(maiding
products, markets and competitors) have similaneeguc characteristics and the segments, therafeflect the lowest
level at which operations and cash flows can berblelistinguished, operationally and for finanaigporting purposes,
from the rest of the Company.

The Company tests goodwill annually for impairmemtbetween years if events occur or circumstanbhaage which
suggests impairment may have occurred. At DeceB®ibe2013, the fair value of our Fuel Specialtied Berformance
Chemicals segments substantially exceeds the ngrmglue.
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To determine the fair value of each of our segmeetsitilize a discounted cash flow methodology Hasethe
forecasted future after-tax cash flows from operstifor each since we believe this provides thé digsroximation of
fair value. This methodology requires us to malsiagtions and estimates including those in respidcture revenue
growth and gross margins, which are based upotoagrrange plans, and the Company’s weighted aeecagt of
capital. Our long range plans are regularly updagegart of our planning processes and are reviewddpproved by
management and our Board of Directors. We assummertal values for the Fuel Specialties and Perforcea
Chemicals reporting units which are added to tlesgmt value of the relevant forecasted future ttasts. We assume
no terminal value for the Octane Additives repa@timit beyond its estimated future life. The disued cash flow
methodology does not assume a control premium. $&eauwiscount rate equivalent to the Compamyeighted averag
cost of capital which is estimated by referencthéooverall after-tax rate of return required byiggand debt market
participants in the Company. We assign assetsiabidities, including deferred taxes and goodwidl,our reporting
units if the asset or liability relates to the ggagms of that reporting unit and is included inedmining the fair value ¢
the reporting unit. Cash and debt obligations actueled from the carrying value of our reportingtsin

In 2013 some of the assumptions and estimates pimaérg our discounted cash flows were revisedaas gl our
planning processes although the methodology walsanyed. The most significant revisions were thatGbmpany’s
weighted average cost of capital was changed kectehe changing proportion of debt to equity fungdof the
Company.

The Company elected to perform its annual testespect of Fuel Specialties and Performance Chésrgocadwill as
at December 31 each year. At December 31, 2013ad&h41.1 million and $46.8 million of goodwill ating to our
Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals segnresisectively. At this date we performed annugdamment tests
and concluded that there had been no impairmegoadwill in respect of those reporting segments.

As a result of the Octane Additives impairmentdgerformed during 2013, 2012 and 2011 impairmeatges of $1.3
million, $1.2 million and $2.0 million, respectiyglhave been recognized. These charges are norircaature and
have no impact on taxation. At December 31, 201Beayoodwill in the Octane Additives segment walyfimpaired.
Remaining sales are concentrated around a relaswehll number of customers with a risk that futdeenand could
dramatically decline.

We believe that the assumptions used in our arandhfjuarterly impairment tests are reasonablethltithey are
judgmental, and variations in any of the assumpgtimay result in materially different calculatiorfarapairment
charges, if any.

The Bachman Group Companies Acquisition

On November 4, 2013, the Company acquired 100%e¥dting equity interests in Bachman Services, Bpecialty
Intermediates, Inc., Bachman Production Specialires and
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Bachman Drilling & Production Specialties, Inc. l{eotively “Bachman”). Bachman provide chemicalslaervices to
the oil and gas industry and are based in OklahGitya Oklahoma. We purchased Bachman for a cashkideration of
$45.8 million and by the issuance of 319,953 shafesmregistered Innospec Inc. common stock tqtieeious owners
with a fair value of approximately $15 million, keakon the Innospec share price on the closing Wéteacquired the
businesses in order to move us towards criticabiesd bring both good technology and market msiig in the
oilfield specialties sector which forms part of durel Specialties segment.

Included in the consolidated income statement®i@bmpany since the acquisition date, are thevimtig revenue and
earnings for Bachman combined:

(in millions) Bachmar
Net sales $ 9.7
Net income $ 0.2

The following table summarizes the calculationshef total purchase price and the estimated allocati the purchase
price to the assets acquired and liabilities assuimeBachman. The purchase price allocation isyjgbtomplete as we
are in the process of finalising the valuationhw &ssets acquired. Final determination of theviires may result in
adjustments to the amounts presented below:

(in millions) Bachmar
Other intangible asse $ 25.¢
Goodwill 22.¢
Deferred tax on intangible (7.€)
Other net assets acquired, excluding cash of $ 17.€
Purchase price, net of cash acqu $ b58.¢

Bachman, and the associated goodwill, are includ#édn our Fuel Specialties segment for manageraadtreporting
purposes (see Note 7 for further information ondtieer intangible assets).

Chemsil and Chemtec Acquisitions

On August 30, 2013, the Company acquired 100%eof/tting equity interests in Chemsil Silicones,. Ifi€hemsil”)
and Chemtec Chemical Co. (“Chemtec”), both of whaoh based at Chatsworth in Los Angeles, Califo@remsil
develops and markets silicone-based formulatiorisdgersonal care industry and Chemtec distribautegle range of
personal care ingredients. We acquired these sasan order to add to both the technology baderengeographici
footprint of our Personal Care business withinBerformance Chemicals segment.
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The purchase price for Chemsil and Chemtec, neastf acquired, comprised $51.2 million in cash&®ha million of
Innospec Inc. common stock transferred to the ptessbwner on the acquisition date.

Included in the consolidated income statement®iGbmpany since the acquisition date, are theviiig revenue and
earnings for Chemsil and Chemtec combined:

Chemsil

&
(in millions) Chemtec
Net sales $ 11.€
Net income $ 1.C

The following table summarizes the calculationshef total purchase price and the allocation ofpilnehase price to
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed fontShe@nd Chemtec, which is now complete:

Chemsil

&
(in millions) Chemtec
Other intangible asse $ 34.(
Goodwill 16.7
Other net assets, excluding cash of $1 6.7
Purchase price, net of cash acqu $ 57.4

Chemsil and Chemtec, and the associated goodvéalinaluded within our Performance Chemicals sedrfan
management and reporting purposes (see Note drthief information on the other intangible assets).

Supplemental unaudited pro forma information

For illustrative purposes only pro forma informatiof the enlarged group is provided below but ismexessarily
indicative of what the financial position or resuttf operations would have been had the acquisitbdibtrata, Chems
Chemtec and Bachman been completed as of Janua@l 2, In addition, the unaudited pro forma finahaiformation
is not indicative of, nor does it purport to prdjabe future financial position of operating réswf the enlarged group.

(in millions, except per share data 2013 2012
Net sales $913.1 $904.¢
Net income $ 85.1 $ 77.2
Earnings per shar basic $ 3.42 $ 3.3¢
—diluted $ 3.3¢€ $ 3.24
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Adjustments to the unaudited pro forma financi&imation includes amortization in respect of togquared other
intangible assets for all acquisitions, and theuestion-related costs incurred in respect of ladide transactions.

Adjustments to Strata purchase price allocation

During 2013, we finalized our calculations of tlagr fvalues of assets acquired and liabilities agslim the acquisition
of Strata, resulting in a $0.6 million reductionatiher net assets acquired and a correspondingaserin goodwill.

Note 7. Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets comprise the following:

(in millions) 2013 2012
Gross cost
— Product rights $ 34.C $ 0.C
— Brand name 2.8 0.C
— Technology 33.€ 25.4
— Customer relationshiy 58.7 44.2
— Patents 2.6 2.6
— Internally developed software and other ct 19.5 10.1
— Non-compete agreemer 1.t 1.t
— Marketing relatec 22.1 22.1
175.t 106.2
Accumulated amortizatior
— Product rights (1.9 0.C
- Brand name (0. 0.C
— Technology (7.€ (6.0
— Customer relationshig (16.€) (12.7)
— Patents (2.6 (2.9
— Internally developed software and other ct (2.0 0.C
— Non-compete agreemer (0.7) 0.C
— Marketing relatec (18.9) (16.€)
(48.7) (37.6)
$126.¢ $ 68.€

Product rights

Following the acquisition of Chemsil on August 2013, the Company has recognized an intangibldé a6$84.0
million in respect of Chemsil’s product rights dofin. This asset has an expected life of 9 yearkia being amortized
on a straight-line basis over this period.
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An amortization expense of $1.3 million was recagdiin 2013 (2012 -850 million) in cost of goods sold. No resid
value is anticipated.

Brand names

Following the acquisition of Bachman on Novembe2@13, the Company recognized an intangible ag<k2.6
million in respect of Bachman’s brand names. Thseahas an expected life of 5 years and is bengtezed on a
straight-line basis over this period. An amortiaatexpense of $0.1 million was recognized in 2QRL2 — $0.0
million) in selling, general and administrative exyges. No residual value is anticipated.

Technology

Following the acquisition of Bachman on Novembe2@13, the Company recognized an intangible ag%8.6
million in respect of Bachman’s core chemistry kAlo@w of oilfield chemicals. This asset has an eigubtife of 15
years and is being amortized on a straight-linésbager this period. No residual value is antiogoht

Following the acquisition of Strata on DecemberZa1 2, the Company recognized an intangible agskt&3 million
in respect of technological know-how of the mixergd manufacturing process, patents which protectathnology
and the associated product branding. This assetrhagpected life of 16.5 years and is being azexiton a straight-
line basis over this period. No residual valuenscpated.

Following the acquisition of the remaining 50% ohbspec Fuel Specialties LLC on July 8, 2004, tom@any
recognized an intangible asset of $2.3 millionaspect of various technological approvals the lssifas received
from certain military and civilian authorities. Theprovals act as a barrier to entry to any pakotimpetitor in the
market who would wish to supply these productssHsiset has an expected life of 10 years andng la@nortized on a
straight-line basis over this period. No residugle is anticipated.

An intangible asset of $4.8 million was recognizedespect of a number of specialized manufactupingesses carri
out by Innospec Widnes Limited following the acaios of that entity in August 2004. This asset hasexpected life
of 10 years and is being amortized on a straigigtiasis over this period. No residual value igcgated.

An amortization expense of $1.9 million was recagdiin 2013 (2012 — $0.7 million) in cost of goaadd.

Customer relationships

Following the acquisition of Bachman on Novembe2@13, the Company recognized an intangible agskt45
million in respect of Bachman’s long-term customedationships.
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This asset has a weighted average expected lifd.6fyears and is being amortized on a straigletbasis over this
period. No residual value is anticipated.

Following the acquisition of Strata on December221, 2, the Company recognized an intangible agsk2&2 million
in respect of long-term customer relationshipssHsset has an expected life of 11.5 years argng lamortized on a
straight-line basis over this period. No residugle is anticipated.

Following the acquisition of Finetex (now mergetbilnnospec Active Chemicals LLC) in January 2008, Company
recognized an intangible asset totaling $7.1 mmi|l#®4.2 million of which was in relation to custantists acquired.
This asset has an expected life of 13 years abeling amortized on a straight-line basis over pleisod. No residual
value is anticipated.

Intangible assets were recognized in 2004 in rés@daoth the Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC ($9ilion) and
Innospec Widnes Limited ($2.8 million) acquisitipasd relate to ongoing customer relationshipssélassets have an
expected life of 10 years and are being amortized straight-line basis over this period. No reaida@lue is
anticipated.

An amortization expense of $4.1 million was recagdiin 2013 (2012 — $1.5 million) in selling, gealeand
administrative expenses.

Patents

Following the acquisition of Finetex, the Compaagagnized an intangible asset of $2.9 million Bpect of patents
and trademarks. These have an expected life otafsyand are being amortized on a straigktbasis over this perio
No residual value is anticipated. An amortizatiapense of $0.3 million was recognized in 2013 (2— $0.3 million)
in cost of goods sold.

Internally developed software and other costs

We are continuing with the implementation of ouwneompany-wide, information system platform, feliag the
successful deployment at the majority of our Uitessn the third quarter of 2013. At December 2113 we had
capitalized $19.5 million (2012 — $10.1 million)rielation to this internally developed softwareisTasset has an
expected life of 5 years and is being amortized straight-line basis over this period. No residizilie is anticipated.
An amortization expense of $1.0 million was recagdiin 2013 (2012 — $0.0 million) in selling, gealeand
administrative expenses.

Non-compete agreements

Following the acquisition of Strata on December2,2, the Company recognized an intangible agsgt.6 million
in respect of a non-compete agreement. This aasedr
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expected life of 2 years and is being amortized straight-line basis over this period. No residizlie is anticipated.
An amortization expense of $0.7 million was recagdiin 2013 (2012 — $0.0 million) in selling, gealeand
administrative expenses.

Marketing related (formerly Ethyl)

An intangible asset of $28.4 million was recogniaethe second quarter of 2007 in respect of E@ofporation
foregoing their entitlement effective April 1, 20@ya share of the future income stream underdles and marketing
agreements to market and sell TEL. In 2008, cohpramvisions no longer deemed necessary of $6.[Bomivere offset
against the intangible asset. The amount attribisteélde Octane Additives reporting segment wasdgamortized
straight-line to December 31, 2012 and the amotiribated to the Fuel Specialties reporting segnebeing
amortized straight-line to December 31, 2017. EitecOctober 1, 2011, the Company extended itsnedé for the
future life of the Octane Additives segment froncBaber 31, 2012 to December 31, 2013 and therpfospectively
adjusted the amortization period for the amoumitatted to the Octane Additives segment. An amatitin expense of
$1.7 million was recognized in 2013 (2012 — $1.6iom) in cost of goods sold.

Amortization expense

The aggregate of other intangible asset amortizaigpense was $11.1 million, $4.1 million and $#illion in 2013,
2012 and 2011, respectively, of which $3.8 milli$g,6 million and $2.9 million, respectively, wasognized in cost
of goods sold, and the remainder was recognizedlliimg, general and administrative expenses.

Future amortization expense is estimated to belksws for the next five years:

(in millions)

2014 $16.¢€
2015 $16.¢€
2016 $16.¢€
2017 $16.¢€
2018 $14.:

Note 8. Deferred Finance Costs

On August 28, 2013, we amended our five-year rengleredit facility (“the facility”). The amendmeptovides for an
increase in the facility available to the Compang aertain subsidiaries of the Company from $100anito $150
million and retains the term of the facility thrdutp December 2016. In addition, the amendmenivallihe Company
to request an additional amount of up to $50 miillio be committed by the lenders, of which $30iomllwas
committed in the fourth quarter of 2013. As a re$0L9 million of refinancing costs have been aljzéd in 2013 and
are being amortized over the expected life of #uodify using the effective interest method, ireliwith the costs
capitalized for the original facility in Decembed L.
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(in millions) 2013 2012
Gross cos $2.€ $1.7
Accumulated amortizatio 0.8 (0.9

$1.8 $1.¢

Amortization expense was $0.4 million, $0.4 milliand $0.5 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respetyivThe charge
is included in interest expense (see Note 2).

Note 9. Pension Plans

United Kingdom plan

The Company maintains a defined benefit pension filee “Plan”) covering a number of its current doamer
employees in the United Kingdom, although it ddes &ave other much smaller pension arrangemertteib).S. and
overseas. The Plan is closed to future servicauatbut has a large number of deferred and cupemsioners. The
Projected Benefit Obligation (“PBQ”) is based omdli salary and years of credited service reducesbbial security
benefits according to a plan formula. Normal retiemt age is 65 but provisions are made for eatisereent. The
Plan’s assets are invested by several investmemhgeanent companies in funds holding United King@dom overseas
equities, United Kingdom and overseas fixed intesesurities, index linked securities, propertyt tinists and cash or
cash equivalents. The trustegs/estment policy is to seek to achieve specifipgctives through investing in a suita
mixture of real and monetary assets. The truseasggnize that the returns on real assets, whilectgd to be greater
over the long-term than those on monetary assetdikaly to be more volatile. A mixture acrossetsdasses should
nevertheless provide the level of returns requingthe Plan to meet its liabilities at an accemadbVel of risk for the
trustees and an acceptable level of cost to thep@an

During the second quarter of 2010 the Company implged a pension increase exchange (“PIE”) prodoarcurrent
pensioners, effective April 1, 2010, which redutieel PBO by $17.1 million. This reduction in PBOuksd in a prior
service credit which is being amortized using tinaight-line method over the remaining life expectaof Plan
pensioners of 15 years commencing April 1, 2010.

When the plan closed to future accrual in 201@mployees became inactive and GAAP requires tleahvkrage
remaining life expectancy of the inactive particifgis used, instead of the average remainingeerno spread future
amortization of actuarial net losses. The averageming life expectancy of the inactive particifsaimas been
approximately 24 years since the plan closed 201

In 2013, the Company contributed approximately illlion in cash to the Plan in accordance with aetuarial deficit
recovery plan agreed with the trustees.
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(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Plan net pension charge/(credi
Service cos $ 1€ $ 1€ $ 1€
Interest cost on PB: 31.c 32.2 36.€
Expected return on plan ass (35.5 (34.1) (36.7)
Amortization of prior service crec (2.3 (1.3 (1.3
Amortization of actuarial net loss 6.2 3.2 2.7
$ 2.3 $ 1€ $ 2¢
Plan assumptions at December 31, ('
Discount rate 4.4(C 4.1% 4.7¢
Inflation rate 2.5 2.2 2.1
Rate of return on plan ass~ overall on bi-value 4.8t 4.9C 4.8t
Rate of return on plan ass~ equity securitie: 7.5C 7.2E 7.7C
Rate of return on plan ass~ debt securitie 3.4C 3.6t 3.6(
Plan asset allocation by category (%
Equity securitie: 35 33 29
Debt securitie: 61 61 66
Cash 4 6 5
10C 10C 10C

The discount rate used represents the annualieddilyased on a cash flow matched methodology wittrence to an
AA corporate bond spot curve and having regarthéoduration of the Plan’s liabilities. The inflaticate is derived
using a similar cash flow matched methodology &slder the discount rate but having regard to ifferénce betwee
yields on fixed interest and index linked Unitechgfdlom government gilts. The rate of increase inprmsation levels
is no longer relevant since the Company closedPtae to future service accrual with effect from BtaBl, 2010. A
0.25% change in the discount rate assumption wchagge the PBO by approximately $28 million andrteepension
charge for 2014 by approximately $0.5 million. 8% change in the level of price inflation assumptivould change
the PBO by approximately $22 million and the netgien charge for 2014 by approximately $1.7 million

The current investment strategy of the Plan idoiaio an asset allocation of 65% debt securities34% equity
securities in order to achieve a more predictadtiern on assets. As at December 31, 2013 and app2oximately
55% of the Plan’s assets were held in index-trackimds with one investment management companyra@xupately
25% of the Plan’s assets were invested in Unitegdyfom government gilts. No more than 5% of the Blagssets were
invested in any one individual company’s investnfends.
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Movements in PBO and fair value of Plan assetasffellows:

(in millions) 2013 2012

Change in PBC
Opening balanc $805.: $687.4
Interest cos 31.2 32.2
Service cos 1.€ 1.€
Benefits paic (39.9 (43.9)
Actuarial losses/(gain: 5.¢ 94.4
Exchange effec 15.1 33.€
Closing balanc: $819.¢ $805.:

Fair value of plan assef
Opening balanc $768.¢ $708.¢
Actual benefits pai (39.9 (43.9
Actual contributions by employzt 10.¢ 9.2
Actual return on asse 35.5 61.Z
Exchange effec 14.¢ 33.c
Closing balanc: $790.: $768.€

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Plan $&%9.8 million and $805.3 million at December 213 and 2012,
respectively.
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For the vast majority of assets, a market appramaldopted to assess the fair value of the assighsthe inputs being
the quoted market prices for the actual securitedd in the relevant fund. For Level 3 assets whiegee is no ready
market and for which no indicative dealer prices arailable, fund assets are independently evalpaiéh the use of

agreed upon procedures conducted by an audit dinonavide independent confirmation that proper aaan

procedures are being followed. The fair valuesesfgoon assets by level of input were as follows:

(in millions)
At December 31, 201
Fixed income securitie:

Debt securities issued by U.S. government a

government agencie

Debt securities issued by non-U.S. governments

and government agenci
Corporate debt securitis

Residential mortga-backed securitie

Other ass+backed securitie
Equity securities

Equity securities held for proprietary investm

purpose:
Real estat

Other asset

Total assets at fair valt
Cash

Total plan assel

At December 31, 201
Fixed income securitie:

Debt securities issued by U.S. government a

government agencie

Debt securities issued by non-U.S. governments

and government agenci
Corporate debt securitis

Residential mortgar-backed securitie

Other ass+backed securitie
Equity securities

Equity securities held for proprietary investm

purpose:
Real estat

Other asset

Total assets at fair valt
Cash

Total plan assel

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Asset:

(Level 1)

198.%
275.5
0.2
3.8

156.7
61.c

697.¢
29.1

$ 726.7

191.C
284.¢
0.2
3.1

134.¢
33.2

648.¢
49.¢

$ 698.¢

78

Significant
Other Significant
Observable Unobservable
Inputs Inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3)
$ $
25.¢ 38.c
25.2 38.2
$ 25.2 $ 38.2
$ $
39.C 31.C
39.C 31.C
$ 39.C $ 31.C

Total

156.7
61.4
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The reconciliation of the fair value of the Plasets using significant unobservable inputs (Leyel&s as follows:

Other
(in millions) Asset:
Balance at December 31, 2C $28.1
Realized/unrealized gains/(losse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting 1.3
Relating to assets sold during the pel 0.C
Purchases, issuances and settlerr 0.t
Exchange effec
Balance at December 31, 2C 31.C
Realized/unrealized gains/(losse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting 3.5
Relating to assets sold during the pel 0.C
Purchases, issuances and settlerr 3.€
Exchange effec 0.2
Balance at December 31, 2C $38.:
The projected net pension charge for the year gndeacember 31, 2014 is as follows:
(in millions)
Service cos $ 1.7
Interest cost on PB 34.7
Expected return on plan ass (37.9)
Amortization of prior service crec (1.3
Amortization of actuarial net loss Sl
$ 3.2
The following benefit payments are expected to belen
(in millions)
2014 $ 49.7
2015 $ 47.C
2016 $ 47.C
2017 $ 48.t
2018 $ 49.2
2019- 2023 $258.(
German plan

The Company also maintains an unfunded definedfibgramsion plan covering a number of its curreamd éormer
employees in Germany (the “German plan”). The Garpian is closed to new entrants and has no assets.
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(in millions)

German plan net pension charg
Service cos

Interest cost on PB:

Amortization of prior service cost/(cred
Amortization of actuarial net loss/(gai

German plan assumptions (%
Discount rate

Inflation rate

Rate of increase in compensation ley

Movements in PBO of the German plan are as follows:

(in millions)
Change in PBC
Opening balanc
Service cos
Interest cos
Amortization of prior service cost/(cred
Benefits paic
Actuarial losses/(gain:
Exchange effec

Closing balanct

2012 2011
$01 $0.2
0.2 0.2
0.C 0.C
0.C 0.C
$04 $0E
3.2t 5.0C
2.0C 2.0C
2.7t 2.7¢
2013 2012
$9.2 $6.2
0.2 0.1
0.2 0.2
(0.1) 0.C
(0.2) (0.2)
(0.9) 2.6
0.5 0.2
$9.6 $9.2

The amount of unrecognized actuarial net losseshier comprehensive loss in respect of the Gerrtamip $1.6

million, net of tax of $0.6 million.

Other plans

Company contributions to defined contribution scherduring 2013 were $7.7 million (2012 — $7.4 roid).
80



Table of Contents

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Note 10. Income Taxes

A roll-forward of unrecognized tax benefits andaxsated accrued interest and penalties is as fstlow

(in millions)

Opening balance at January 1, 2!

Additions related to tax positions taken in thereat perioc
Additions for tax positions of prior perio

Reductions for tax positions of prior peric

Closing balance at December 31, 2!

Current

Non-current

Opening balance at January 1, 2!

Additions related to tax positions taken in thereat perioc
Additions for tax positions of prior perior

Reductions due to lapsed statutes of limitat

Closing balance at December 31, 2

Current

Non-current

Opening balance at January 1, 2!

Additions for tax positions of prior perio
Reductions due to lapsed statutes of limitat

Closing balance at December 31, 2I
Current

Non-current

Interest and

Penalties
$ 0.3
0.C
0.2
(0.1)
04
(0.9)
0.1

0.4
0.C
0.2
0.C
0.6
(0.9)
$ 0.€
0.6
(0.1)
1.1
(0.6)
$ Of

&7

Unrecognizec

Tax Benefits
$ 8.3
5.2
0.t
(1.§)
12.2
(2.9)
$ 12.2
0.2
0.C
(0.2)
12.2
(2.9
$ 12.2
0.2
0.5)
11.¢€
(6.2)
$ 5.7

Total

(<]
L~ =
Wn[Foum
N m @~ N D
) — | —

<23
©
N

&
=
N
™

0.2

0.2)
12.¢
3.0)
$ 9.8
$12.¢

BsE:

L~ =
pvoo‘_op
m Al o
| — | ——

A
(o2}
N

All of the $13.0 million of unrecognized tax bengfiand interest and penalties, would impact oigcéfe tax rate if

recognized.

We recognize accrued interest and penalties asedaiath uncertain tax positions as part of incamees in our

consolidated statements of income.

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company rded a $0.2 million addition to unrecognized tardfés and there
was a $0.5 million reduction in unrecognized tardfés due to the expiration of applicable statutelimitations

during the first quarter of 2013.
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The Company or one of its subsidiaries files incaaxereturns with the U.S. federal government, @aibus state and
foreign jurisdictions. As at December 31, 2013@wmnpany and its U.S. subsidiaries were subjectféal@ral income
tax examination by the IRS for 2009 and an employrtex examination for 2010 and 2011. The Compamyits U.S.
subsidiaries remain open to federal income tax @éation by the IRS for years 2009 onwards. The Camypdoes not
currently anticipate that adjustments, if any,ingsout of this tax audit would result in a matédhange to its financial
position as at December 31, 2013. The Company’sidiabies in foreign tax jurisdictions are operei@mination
including France (2012 onwards), Germany (2010 edg)a Switzerland (2012 onwards) and the Unitedgidlom
(2011 onwards).

The sources of income before income taxes werellasvs:

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Domestic $10.C $ 5.€ $(42.€)
Foreign 82.¢ 87.7 92.¢

$92.¢ $93.5 $ 50.2

The components of income tax charges are summaaiz éallows:

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Current:
Federa $ 1.€ $ 2.¢ $ 54
Foreign 6.8 11.€ 13.€
8.4 14.7 19.C
Deferred:
Federa 1.6 12.5 (12.9)
Foreign 4.8 (0.6) (3.7)
6.€ 11.7 (15.9)
$15.C $26.4 $ 3.1

Cash payments for income taxes were $21.1 mild3,.1 million and $18.1 million during 2013, 2012011,
respectively.
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The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstatutory rate because of the factors indicatéalrbe

2013 2012 2011
Statutory rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Foreign income inclusior 6.1 48.€ 20.t
Impairment of Octane Additives segment good 0.t 0.t .3
Foreign tax credit (1.9 (38.9) (25.9)
Pension (credit)/charc 0.3 (0.3 (9.7)
Foreign tax rate differenti (14.¢) (16.4) (19.])
Permanent tax adjustmet (2.5 (0.2 X
Amortization 1.1 0.t 0.7
Tax (credit)/charge from previous yei (2.€ (0.€) (1.c
Net charge/(credit) from unrecognized tax bent 0.2 0.3 1.7
United Kingdom income tax rate reducti 0.¢ (0.6) (4.9
Other items and adjustments, (5.4) (0.5) 2.C

16.2% 28.5% 6.2%

Significant factors affecting the variation to staty rate are set out above and include foreigonme inclusions net of
foreign tax credits. The mix of taxable profits geated in the different geographical localitiesvimch the Group
operates had a significant positive impact on ffectve tax rate in 2013.
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Details of deferred tax assets and liabilitiesaaralyzed as follows:

(in millions) 2013 2012
Deferred tax assets
Foreign tax credit $ 4.k $ 5.E
Accrued expense 3.4 4.€
Stock options 5.2 5.5
Excess of tax over book basis in property, pladt@guipmen 0.¢ 1.1
Net operating loss carry forwar 0.2 2
Pension liabilities 6.5 9.2
Other intangible asse 1.C 0.C
Other 3.6 4.7
Valuation allowance 0.C 0.C
Deferred tax liabilities:
Goodwill amortizatior (7.2 (6.9)
Other intangible asse 0.3 (0.9)
Excess of book over tax basis in tax deductibledgoib (0.2 0.C
Excess of book over tax basis in intangible as (7.5 0.C
Other (2.9 (3.2)
Total net deferred tax ass $7.¢€ $19.€
Deferred taxes are included within the consolidatethalance sheet
as follows:
Deferred tax asse $17.5 $23.7
Deferred tax liabilities (9.7 (3.9)
$ 7€ $19.€
Current portion of deferred tax ass $ 8.7 $11.C
Deferred tax assets, net of current por 8.€ 12.7
Current portion of deferred tax liabilitie (0.2 (0.2)
Deferred tax liabilities, net of current porti (9.5 (3.6)
$ 7.€ $19.¢
Details of the deferred tax asset valuation allaveaare as follows:
(in millions) 201z 2012 2011
At January ] $0.C $(7.5)  $(10.9)
Change in foreign tax credi 0.C 7.5 3.2
At December 3: $0.C $0.C $ (7.5)
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As a result of the Company’s assessment of itslefetrred tax assets at December 31, 2013, the Gonuoasiders it
more likely than not that no valuation allowanceeiquired for $0.3 million (2012 — $0.3 million) @ net operating
loss carry forwards and that no valuation allowasaequired against its foreign tax credit caogwfards (2012 — $0.0
million).

The net operating loss carry forwards arose irlk& in the prior periods as a result of stateldages. It is expected
that sufficient taxable profits will be generataghmst which these net operating loss carry foraaah be relieved
prior to their expiration in 2021. The foreign tevedit carry forwards arose in the U.S. in prioriges. The Company
has determined that future foreign income inclusiaill be sufficient to utilize all of the $4.5 rhidn (2012 — $5.5
million) of the foreign tax credit carry forwardsiqr to their expiration in 2017 and 2021 and tlieme no valuation
allowance is required.

Should it be determined in the future that it idormger more likely than not that these assetsheilfealized, a
valuation allowance would be required, and the Camyjs operating results would be adversely affecdigtihg the
period in which such a determination would be made.

The Company is in a position to control whethenatr to repatriate foreign earnings and we intengetananently
reinvest earnings overseas to fund overseas salisgliNo taxes have been provided for the unrech@éarnings of our
overseas subsidiaries as any tax basis differeetaing to investments in these overseas subgdiare considered to
be permanent in duration. The amount of unremitetiings at December 31, 2013 and 2012 was appatedyr605
million and $717 million, respectively. If theseremgs are remitted, additional taxes could reafitir offsetting
foreign income taxes paid although the calculatibthe additional taxes is not practical at thisei

Note 11. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:
(in millions) 2013 2012

Revolving credit facility $142.( $20.C
Promissory not 5.C 10.C
Other lon¢-term debr 1.C 0.C
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On December 14, 2011, we entered into a five-y@awlving credit facility which provides for borromgs by us of up
to $100 million. The facility carries an intereate based on U.S. dollar LIBOR plus a margin ofvieen 1.50% and
2.25% which is dependent on the Company’s ratioedfdebt to EBITDA. EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of
liquidity
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defined in the credit facility. The facility can beawn down until it expires on December 14, 204/&.repaid the
previous finance facility, which was due to expreFebruary 6, 2012, upon entering into the newitfacility.

On August 28, 2013, we amended our existing fivaryevolving credit facility (“the facility”). Thamendment
provides for an increase in the facility availatdleghe Company and certain subsidiaries of the Gayfrom $100
million to $150 million and retains the term anadhdiions of the original facility through to Decesr®016. In
addition, an amendment allowed the Company to tqareadditional amount of $50 million to be conmedtby the
lenders, of which $30 million was committed in foerth quarter of 2013.

The Company’s credit facility contains restrictelauses which may constrain our activities andtloor operational
and financial flexibility. The facility obliges thenders to comply with a request for utilizatidrfinance unless there
an event of default outstanding. Events of defardtdefined in the credit facility and include atemil adverse change
to our assets, operations or financial conditidme Tacility contains a number of restrictions thait our ability,
amongst other things, and subject to certain lidnéeceptions, to incur additional indebtednesgjgdeour assets as
security, guarantee obligations of third partieakeninvestments, undergo a merger or consolidatigsppse of assets,
or materially change our line of business.

In addition, the credit facility contains terms wfhj if breached, would result in it becoming regagan demand. It
requires, among other matters, compliance witifdhewing financial covenant ratios measured oruartgrly basis:
(1) the ratio of net debt to EBITDA shall not beegter than 2.5:1 and (2) the ratio of EBITDA to im¢rest shall not
be less than 4.0:1. Management has determinethihn&ompany has not breached these covenants ttwoutpe
period to December 31, 2013 and expects to nothréeese covenants for the next 12 months. Thetdesdity is
secured by a number of fixed and floating charges oertain assets which include key operating sitdhe Company
and its subsidiaries.

On September 13, 2011, the Company settled the Neld¥l Corporation civil complaint. The settlemegteement
included the Company issuing a $15.0 million praoig note to NewMarket Corporation payable in thegeal annue
installments (carrying simple interest at 1% perwan), the first installment of which was paid orpt&enber 7, 2012.

The weighted average rate of interest on borrowwmas 1.6% at December 31, 2013 and 1.6% at Decedih@012.
Payments of interest on long-term debt were $11lomj $0.5 million and $1.8 million in 2013, 20Hxd 2011,
respectively.

The net cash outflows in respect of refinancingcosere $0.9 million, $0.0 million and $1.7 milliam 2013, 2012 and
2011, respectively.

Note 12. Plant Closure Provisions

The principal site giving rise to environmental egation liabilities is the manufacturing site deEmere Port in the
United Kingdom, which management believes is tedagoing
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manufacturer of TEL. There are also environmemaladiation liabilities on a much smaller scaledspect of our

other manufacturing sites in the U.S. and Europe. l&bility for estimated closure costs of Innaspananufacturing
facilities includes costs for decontamination andinmental remediation activities (remediatiorijem demand for
TEL diminishes. Severance provisions have been nmadgation to Corporate personnel and persormehbich of the

three reporting segments.

Movements in the provisions are summarized asvi@io

(in millions)

Total at January 1, 20!
Charge for the perio
Utilized in the perioc
Exchange effec

Total at December 31, 20:

Due within one yea
Due after one yes
Total at January 1, 20!
Charge for the perio
Utilized in the perioc
Exchange effec

Total at December 31, 20:

Due within one yea
Due after one ye:

Total at January 1, 20!
Charge for the perio
Utilized in the perioc
Exchange effec

Total at December 31, 20:

Due within one yea
Due after one ye:

Severanc
$ 1t
0.7
(0.7)
0.C
1t
(0.5)
$ 1.C
$ 1.t
0.2
(0.6)
0.C
1.1
(0.2)
$ 1.C
$ 1.1
0.C
(0.2)
0.C
1.C
0.C
$ 1.C

Other
Restructuring Remediatior
$ 0.1 $ 25.€
(0.7) 4.5
0.C (3.2
0.C (0.2)
0.C 27.1
0.C §3.6)
$ 0.C $ 23.t
$ 0.C $ 27.1
0.C 4.C
0.C (2.2
0.C 0.3
0.C 29.2
0.C (5.0)
$ 0.C $ 24.5
0.C 29.5
0.C 3.6
0.C (1.9
0.C 0.1
0.C 31.4
0.C (6.2)
$ 0.C $ 25.2

Total
$27.5
5.1
(3.9
(0.2)
28.€
§4.1)
$24.F
$28.¢€
4.2
(2.7)
0.3
30.4
(5.1)
$25.:2
30.4
3.6
(2.0)
0.1
32.4
(6.2)
$26.2

Amounts due within one year refer to provisions kehexpenditure is expected to arise within one pé#ne balance

sheet date. Severance charges are recognizedimctme statement as restructuring costs along atitar

restructuring costs. Remediation costs are recegniz cost of goods sold.
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Remediation

The remediation provision represents the Compdmbdity for environmental liabilities and assetirement
obligations. The charge for the period in 2013 espnts the accretion expense recognized of $2liémend a further
$1.3 million primarily in respect of changes in #pected cost and scope of future remediationitiet. A discount
rate of 8.92% was used in valuing the remediati@vipion.

We recognize environmental liabilities when theg probable and costs can be reasonably estimaig@dsset
retirement obligations when there is a legal obliayaand costs can be reasonably estimated. Thep&@uwyrhas to
anticipate the program of work required and th@ass$ed future expected costs, and comply withrenvental
legislation in the countries in which it operate$as operated in. The Company views the costacdting our
Ellesmere Port site as contingent upon if and wheacates the site because there is no presemitioh to do so. The
Company has further determined that, due to thertmia product life of TEL particularly in the matifor aviation
gasoline and other products being manufactureth@site, there are uncertainties as to the prabahiid timing of the
expected costs. Such uncertainties have been evedith estimating the provision.

Remediation expenditure utilized provisions of $hiflion, $2.1 million and $3.1 million in 2013, 2@ and 2011,
respectively.

Note 13. Deferred Income

Deferred income consists of:

(in millions) 2013 2012
Deferred income $1.E $2.2
Less current portio 0.9 (1.9

©+
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Non-current deferred inconr

Non-current deferred income of $1.2 million relateptst acquisition government grants received bps$pec Leuna
GmbH.

Note 14. Profit on Disposal, net

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Profit on disposal of surplus United Kingdom restlage $0.C $0.1 $0.C
Loss on disposal of surplus U.S. real es 0.C 0.C 0.C

$0.C $0.1 $0.C

In the third quarter of 2012, the Company recogh&&0.1 million profit following the disposal dfirplus real estate.
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Note 15. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be receivedeiban asset or paid to transfer a liability inaderly transaction
between market participants at the measuremeniebteprice). The Company utilizes a mid-markeating
convention for valuing the majority of its assets &iabilities measured and reported at fair valilee Company utilize
market data or assumptions that market participaotdd use in pricing the asset or liability, inding assumptions
about risk and the risks inherent in the inputgtovaluation technique. These inputs can be eatiBervable, market
corroborated or generally unobservable. The Compainyarily applies the market approach for recigtiair value
measurements and endeavors to utilize the bedablainformation. Accordingly, the Company util&zealuation
techniques that maximize the use of observabletsngod minimize the use of unobservable inputs.tmpany is
able to classify fair value balances based on tiserwability of those inputs. The Company givestighest priority to
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets fortidahassets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measuretndfinancial assets and liabilities are classifretheir entirety
based on the lowest level of input that is sigaificto the fair value measurement. The Compangesssnent of the
significance of a particular input to the fair valmmeasurement requires judgment and may affecstatli@tion of fair
value assets and liabilities and their placemetttiwihe fair value hierarchy Levels. In 2013, @@empany evaluated
the fair value hierarchy levels assigned to itetssand liabilities, and concluded that there shbel no transfers into
out of Levels 1, 2 and 3.
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The following table presents the carrying amourmt fair values of the Company’s assets and liabgditheasured on a
recurring basis:

December 31 December 31
2013 2012
Carrying Carrying
Fair Fair

(in millions) Amount Value Amount Value
Assets
Non-derivatives:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 80z $80z $ 224 $22.4
Shor-term investment 6.€ 6.€ 5.1 5.1
Non-financial assets (Level 3 measurement
Goodwill - Octane Additive: 0.C 0.C 1.2 1.2
Derivatives (Level 1 measurement)
Other nor-current asset:

Commaodity swap 0.C 0.C 0.1 0.1

Foreign currency forward exchange contr: 1.C 1.C 0.8 0.8
Liabilities
Non-derivatives:
Long-term debt (including current portio $ 148.C $148.( $ 30.C $30.C
Non-financial liabilities (Level 3 measurement):
Stock equivalent unit 12.1 12.1 12.€ 12.¢
Acquisitior-related contingent considerati 4.€ 4.€ 4.2 4.2

The following methods and assumptions were usedtimate the fair values of financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents, and short-term invegsn€he carrying amount approximates fair value becafisiee
short-term maturities of such instruments.

Longc-term debt:Long-term debt principally comprises the revolvorgdit facility and the promissory note, which were
entered into in December 2011 and September 26%pectively. The carrying amount of long-term dglyiroximates
to the fair value.

Acquisitior-related contingent consideratio@eferred consideration payable in cash is discaliaéts fair value.
Where deferred consideration is contingent upordetermined financial targets, an estimate of gwevialue of the
likely consideration payable is made.

Derivatives:The fair value of derivatives relating to interestie swaps, foreign currency forward exchange aotgr
and commaodity swaps are derived from current seéfg prices and comparable contracts using cuassimptions.

Stock equivalent unitS:he fair values of stock equivalent units are dal@d at each balance sheet date using either:
Black-Scholes or Monte Carlo method.
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The cumulative gains and losses on the interestsiaaps and commodity swaps are summarized asviollo

(in millions) 2013 201z
Balance at January $0.1 $0.1
Change in fair valu _(0.7) _0.C
Balance at December : $0.C $0.1

The commodity swaps are used to manage the Congeagh flow exposure to raw material cost volgtillthey were
designated as cash flow hedges and qualified fdgd@ccounting throughout the year ended Deceniher(3 1. At
March 31, 2012, the commodity hedges were detehtim®e ineffective and consequently a gain of $illion was
recognized in earnings. At December 31, 2011, ¢tlmencodity hedges were determined to be effectivecamdequentl
an unrealized gain of $0.2 million was recordedtimer comprehensive income.

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts primagiate to contracts entered into to hedge fukin@wn
transactions or hedge balance sheet net cashgmssifihe movements in the carrying amounts and/édires of these
contracts are largely due to changes in excharige against the U.S. dollar.

Note 16. Derivative Instruments and Risk Manageent

The Company has limited involvement with derivatinstruments and does not trade them. The Compaey ase
derivatives to manage certain interest rate, foreigrency exchange rate and raw material costsexps.

As at December 31, 2013 and 2012 the Company haderest rate instruments designated as effebtddges. The
interest rate swaps which expired on February 622@ere ineffective at December 31, 2011 becaws€tdmpany’s
previous finance facility, which carried the copending floating rate debt obligations, had begraig: Accordingly, a
loss of $0.1 million was recognized in earning2@i1.

The Company has hedged the cost of certain rawrialstevith commodity swaps which are summarizetbdews:

December 31 December 31
2013 2012
Carrying Carrying
Fair Fair
(in millions) Amount Value Amount Value
Notional quantity- 275 tonne: $ 01 $0.1
Notional quantity— 0 tonnes $ 0.C $0.C

We enter into various foreign currency forward exwie contracts which are intended to minimize cuyexchange
rate exposure from expected future cash flows.cimeracts have maturity dates of up to four yeateedate of
inception. These foreign currency
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forward exchange contracts have not been desigaatbddging instruments, and their impact on thenre statement
in 2013, 2012 and 2011 is summarized below:

Amount of Gain/(Loss)

Location of Gain/(Loss) Recognized in Income
(in millions) Recognized in Income 2013 2012 2011
Foreign currency forward exchan
contracts Other income/(expens $@5H $ 12 $ 1.2

The Company sells a range of Fuel SpecialtiespBagnce Chemicals and Octane Additives to majareditheries and
chemical companies throughout the world. CredittBpongoing credit evaluation and account momigiprocedures
are intended to minimize bad debt risk. Collatesalot generally required.

Note 17. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating leases

The Company has commitments under operating lgaswearily for office space, motor vehicles and eas items of
computer and office equipment. The leases are ¢éxgpéa be renewed and replaced in the normal cairsasiness.
Rental expense was $3.1 million in 2013, $2.9 onillin 2012 and $2.6 million in 2011. Future comnahts under
non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

(in millions)
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
Thereaftel
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Environmental remediation obligations

Commitments in respect of environmental remediatibligations are disclosed in Note 12.
Contingencies
Resolution of certain government investigations and other matters

As we have previously disclosed, in the first geadf 2010, the Company reached a $40.2 milliotleseént to resolve
all matters in respect of investigations by U.Sl Bimited Kingdom government authorities into certi@gacy
transactions conducted by the Company
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and its subsidiaries under the United Nations @ilFood Program (“OFFP”), the U.S. Foreign Corragctices Act
(“FCPA"), the U.S. Cuban Assets Control RegulatiGi&ACR”) and United Kingdom anti-bribery laws. The
settlement consists of fines, penalties and disgoemts which are payable over a period of foursyeammencing
2010. As at December 31, 2013, the expected sohedplayments was as follows:

Government Compliance

(in millions) Authorities Monitor Total
Fines, penalties and disgorgeme $ 40.2 $ 0.C $ 40.2
Fees and associated exper 0.C 3.¢ 3.¢
Less discounting to fair valt 0.C 0.C 0.C
40.z 3.€ 44.1
Amounts paic (40.2) (3.6 (43.¢)
Exchange effec 0.C 0.C 0.C
0.C 0.2 0.2
Due within one yea 0.C 0.9 0.3
$ 0.C $ 0.C $ 0.C

For accounting purposes only, we are required uGdeXP, in accordance with our accounting policydiscount
elements of the fines, penalties and disgorgenteriteeir fair value.

Jalal Bezee Mejel AGaood & Partner litigation

On September 19, 2012, a claim was filed in thehHigurt of Justice in the United Kingdom by JalakzBe Mejel Al-
Gaood & Partner and Future Agencies Company Lin{cedectively “JAG”) against the Company, Innospamited
and a former employee of Innospec Limited. The Camyoelieves JAG was the former Iraq distributarAéon
Chemicals Limited, a subsidiary of NewMarket Cogian, from at least 2005 until termination of thelationship in
2010. The stated claim, inclusive of costs and Bges, is for up to $42.3 million and relates tegald loss of profits fi
JAG’s business in Iraq between 2004 and 2010. Tdregany believes that the allegations in the JAGchre without
merit and intends to defend vigorously its intesest

Settlement of NewMarket Corporation civil complaint

As we have previously disclosed, the Company andubsidiaries, Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH andépec
Limited, were the subject of two civil actions bghi by NewMarket Corporation and its subsidiarytoAfChemical
Corporation (collectively, “NewMarket”). NewMarkahd the Company agreed to settle these actionsgniro the
terms of a settlement agreement between them sgmé&gptember 13, 2011 which provided for mutulelages of the
parties and dismissal of the actions with prejudideder the settlement agreement, the CompanypayliNewMarket
an aggregate amount of
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approximately $45.0 million, payable in a combioatdf cash, a promissory note and stock, of whZ @ million was
paid in cash in September 2011, $15.0 million igafpde in three equal annual installments undeptbenissory note
(carrying simple interest at 1% per annum) and @gprately $5.0 million was paid in the form of 1953 shares of tf
Company’s common stock transferred to NewMark&eptember 2011. The first installment of the prang note
was paid on September 7, 2012 and the secondlistdlwas paid on September 9, 2013.

Other legal matters

While we are involved from time to time in claimsdelegal proceedings that result from, and arededal to, the
conduct of our business including business and cemtial litigation, employee and product liabilithaens, there are t
other material pending legal proceedings to whidh@ompany or any of its subsidiaries is a pamyfaevhich any of
their property is subject. It is possible howevkat an adverse resolution of an unexpectedly laugeber of such
individual items could in the aggregate have a naltadverse effect on results of operations fpagicular year or
quarter.

Guarantees

The Company and certain of the Comg’s consolidated subsidiaries are contingently liftnesertain obligations ¢
affiliated companies primarily in the form of guatees of debt and performance under contractseshieto as a
normal business practice. This includes guarardkren-U.S. excise taxes and customs duties. Aseaémber 31,
2013, such contingent liabilities which are notogruized as liabilities in the consolidated finahstatements amount
to $3.8 million.

Under the terms of the guarantee arrangementsragnine Company would be required to perform stidhe
affiliated company fail to fulfill its obligationander the arrangements. In some cases, the guai@négements have
recourse provisions that would enable the Compamgdover any payments made under the terms afuhmntees
from securities held of the guaranteed partie®tass

The Company and its affiliates have numerous lemgitsales and purchase commitments in their vabaemess
activities, which are expected to be fulfilled with adverse consequences material to the Company.
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Note 18. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock Treasury Stock

(number of shares in thousand: 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
At January 1 29,55 29,55 29,55 6,222 6,507 5,851
Exercise of option 0 0 0 (632) (339) (23€)
Acquisitior-related stock issue 0 0 0 471 0 0
Stock purchase 0 0 0 89 48  1,08:
Settlement of NewMarke

Corporation civil complain 0 0 0 0 0 (195)
At December 3: 29,55 29,55 2955 520¢ 6,22: 6,507

At December 31, 2013, the Company had authorizethwoan stock of 40,000,000 shares (2012 — 40,000, 08$)ed
shares at December 31, 2013, were 29,554,500 2@92554,500) and treasury stock amounted to 32U %hares
(2012 - 6,222,076).

Note 19. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Stock option plans

The Company has five active stock option plans, awwhich provide for the grant of stock optionsetoployees, one
provides for the grant of stock options to non-eygpk directors, and another provides for the grastock options to
key executives on a matching basis provided theyaysroportion of their annual bonus to purchasengon stock in
the Company on the open market or from the Comp&ng fifth plan is a savings plan which providestfte grant of
stock options to all Company employees provideg ttmemmit to make regular savings over a pre-defperibd which
can then be used to purchase common stock upangestthe options. The stock options have vestiegods ranging
from 24 months to 6 years and in all cases stotkp granted expire within 10 years of the datgraht. All grants
are at the sole discretion of the Compensation Citteerof the Board of Directors. Grants may beeqatiat market
value or at a premium or discount. The aggregamelmu of shares of common stock reserved for issueaumich can be
granted under the plans is 2,640,000.

The fair value of stock options is measured omgttaat date using either the Black-Scholes modeah oases where
performance criteria are dependent upon exterctdifmsuch as the Companystock price, using a Monte Carlo mo
The following weighted average assumptions werd ts@életermine the grant-date fair value of options

2013 2012 2011
Dividend yield 0.11% 0.C% 0.2%
Expected life 5 year: 5 year: 5 year:
Volatility 41.1% 60.1% 78.2%
Risk free interest rai 0.4€% 0.4% 1.22%
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The following table summarizes the transactionthefCompany’s stock option plans for the year eridecember 31,
2013:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Grant-Date
Number of Average
Options Exercise Price Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,001,24 $ 6.27
Grantec- at discoun 78,82¢ $ 0.0cC $ 36.3(
— at market valu 22,16 $ 41.27 $ 16.0¢
Exercisec (629,15) $ 5.9¢
Forfeited (25,689 $ 6.21
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 447,39( $ 7.3

At December 31, 2013, there were 186,741 stoclongtihat were exercisable, 77,001 had performaniegittons
attached.

The Company’s policy is to issue shares from trgastock to holders of stock options who exercigese options, but
if sufficient treasury stock is not available, thempany will issue previously unissued sharesaifksto holders of
stock options who exercise options.

The total compensation cost for 2013, 2012 and 2¢44.$2.5 million, $3.1 million and $3.1 millioregpectively. The
total intrinsic value of options exercised in 202812 and 2011 was $4.7 million, $1.5 million ar&2smillion,
respectively.

The total compensation cost related to non-vestak ©ptions not yet recognized at December 3132@ds $2.7
million and this cost is expected to be recogniaeer the weighted-average period of 2.07 years.

The cash tax benefit realized from stock optiorr@ses totaled $5.7 million, $2.7 million and $inilion in 2013,
2012 and 2011, respectively. The excess tax berlafisified in financing activities was $3.8 mitlidh2.2 million and
$1.1 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

No stock options awards were modified in 2013, 2612011.

Stock equivalent units

The Company awards Stock Equivalent Units (“SEWsin time to time as a long-term performance incentSEUs
are cash settled equity instruments conditionatextain performance criteria and linked to the Bpex Inc. share
price. SEUs have vesting periods ranging from 1hthmoto 4 years and in all cases SEUs grantedespihin 10
years of the date of grant. Grants may be pricedaaket value or at a premium or discount. Thereiimit to the
number of SEUs that can be granted. As at Decethe2013 the liability for SEUs of $12.1 millionlscated in
accrued liabilities in the consolidated balanceethentil they are cash settled.
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The fair value of SEUs is measured at the balaheetgdate using either the Black-Scholes modeh cases where
performance criteria are dependent upon exterctbfmsuch as the Compasystock price, using a Monte Carlo mo
The following assumptions were used to determieddir value of SEUs at the balance sheet dates:

2013 2012 2011
Dividend yield 1.0% 0.C% 0.C%
Volatility 37.61% 43.8% 64.2%
Risk free interest ral 0.78% 0.3€6% 0.3€%

The following table summarizes the transactionthefCompany’s SEUSs for the year ended Decembez®13:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Grant-Date
Number Average
of SEUs Exercise Price Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 623,82! $ 2.9t
Grantec- at discoun 59,02¢ $ 0.0cC $ 35.2¢
— at market valu 6,97( $ 41.31] $ 16.0¢
Exercisec (281,70 $ 2.2
Forfeited (4,867) $ 5.04
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 403,26. $ 3.64

At December 31, 2013, there were 64,019 SEUs tbat wxercisable, 57,677 had performance condititashed.

The charges for SEUs are spread over the lifeeattard subject to a revaluation to fair value epdrter. The
revaluation may result in a charge or a credihihcome statement in the quarter dependent uposhare price and
other performance criteria.

The total compensation cost for 2013, 2012 and 204 $7.1 million, $6.8 million and $5.9 milliorespectively. The
total intrinsic value of SEUs exercised in 201312@nd 2011 was $2.2 million, $1.3 million and $&lion,
respectively.

The weighted-average remaining vesting period ofvested SEUs is 0.80 years.

Longterm incentive plan

An additional long-term incentive plan was in placeeward selected executives for delivering ekoegl
performance. Under this plan a discretionary bamas payable to eligible executives if the Innosglere performanc
out-performed that of competitors, as measuredheyRussell 2000 Index, by a minimum of 10% overfiveyears
from January 2008 to December 2012. The maximunudander this plan was $8 million and was
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ultimately earned by the participants. The faitueabf these liability cash-settled stock appresratights was
calculated on a quarterly basis using a Monte Qaddel and is summarized as follows:

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011

Balance at January $ 1.3 $ 22 $ 0.8
Compensation char 0.C 5.8 1.4
Cash paic (1.9 (6.7) 0.C
Balance at December : $ 0C $ 1.3 $ 22

The following assumptions were used in the MontddQaodel:

2012 2011
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C%
Volatility 0.C% 53.5%
Risk free interest rai 0.3¢% 0.3¢%
Note 20. Reclassifications out of Accumulated @¢r Comprehensive Income/(LosS)
Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprsive loss for 2013 were:
P Amount Affected Line Item in the
(in millions) Reclassifiec
Statement where

Details about AOCL Component: from AOCL Net Income is Presentei
Derivative instruments:
Realized gain/(loss) on derivative instrume $ 0.3 Cost of goods sol

(0. Total before ta

0.C Income tax expens

$ (0.3 Net of tax

Defined benefit pension plan items

Amortization of prior service crec $ 1.9 Seevbelow

Amortization of actuarial net loss 6.2 Seev below
4.C Total before ta
(1.2) Income tax expens
3.8 Net of tax

Total reclassifications $ 3.7 Net of tax

(1) These items are included in the computation opeebdic pension cost. See Note 9 for additionfdrimation.
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Changes in accumulated other comprehensive lo0ft8, net of tax, were:

Unrealized
Gains/ Defined
(Losses) on Benefit Cumulative
Derivative Pension Translation
(in millions) Instruments Plan Items Adjustments Total
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.1 $ (117.9) $ (349 $(152.])
Other comprehensive income/(loss) bel
reclassification: 0.C 0.C 1.2 1.2
Actuarial net losses arising during the y (6.7) (6.7)
Amounts reclassified from AOC (0.7) 3.8 0.C 3.7
Net current period other comprehensive incc
(loss) (0.2) (2.9 1.2 (1.8
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.C $ (120.2) $ (339 $(153.9)

Note 21. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncemsn

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11, Presiemtaf an Unrecognized Tax Benefit when a Net @peg Loss
Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credar@forward Exists (“ASU 2013-11"), which requiras
unrecognized tax benefit to be presented in thenfiral statements as a reduction to a deferredgdset for a net
operating loss carryforward, similar tax loss, eaacredit carryforward. To the extent the taxddféns not available at
the reporting date under the governing tax law thra entity does not intend to use the deferrgditset for such
purpose, the unrecognized tax benefit should beepted as a liability and not combined with defétex assets. ASU
2013-11 is effective for annual periods, and imbgpieriods within those years, beginning after Ddmemi5, 2013. The
amendments are to be applied to all unrecognizetidaefits that exist as of the effective date may be applied
retrospectively to each prior reporting period préed. We do not expect a material impact fromathaption of this
guidance on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-02, O@wenprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting ofomts
Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehenigceme. The amendments in ASU 2013-02 require the
Company to report the effect of significant recitisations out of accumulated other comprehensia®ime on the
respective line items in net income, either onfoe of the income statement or in the notesgfdimount being
reclassified is required under GAAP to be reclasgiin its entirety to net income in the same répgrperiod. For
other amounts not required by GAAP to be reclaesgiiin their entirety to net income in the same riepg period, an
entity is required to cross-reference other disgles which provide additional information about &meounts. The
guidance is effective prospectively for reportiregipds beginning after December 15, 2012. As thidance provides
only presentation requirements, the adoption &f skandard did not impact the Company’s resultgpefrations,
financial position or cash flows.
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In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-0ftangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Tasgtindefinite-Lived
Intangible Assets for Impairme. ASU 2012-02 simplifies how entities test indet@alived intangible assets, other that
goodwill, for impairment and permits an entity isf assess qualitative factors to determine whathe more likely
than not that the indefinite-lived intangible agsdatnpaired. The amendments are effective for ahand interim
indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment tgs¢sformed for fiscal years beginning after Septenilae 2012 (early
adoption is permitted). The implementation of theeaded accounting guidance has not had a matewpalat on our
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011BHlance Sheet (Topic 210): Disclosures about QifgpAssets and
Liabilities . The objective of ASU 2011-11 is to facilitate gergence of U.S. GAAP and International Financial
Reporting Standards and improve the comparabifistatements of financial position. Entities arguieed to disclose
both gross information and net information abouhbostruments and transactions eligible for offedhe statement of
financial position and instruments and transactgrigect to an agreement similar to a master metiirangement. This
scope would include derivatives, sale and repuehgseements, and securities borrowing and sessiténding
arrangements. This guidance is effective for anredrting periods beginning on or after Januarg0lL3, and interim
periods within those annual periods. Entities stiqubvide the disclosures required by these amentéme
retrospectively for all comparative periods presdniThe implementation of the amended accountimdpgee has not
had a material impact on our consolidated finarstiziements.

Note 22. Related Party Transactions

Mr. Robert |. Paller has been a non-executive threaf the Company since November 1, 2009. The Gomas

retained and continues to retain Smith, Gambreéisell, LLP (“SGR”), a law firm with which Mr. Hat holds a
position. In 2013, 2012 and 2011 the Company imzlfees payable to SGR of $1.0 million, $0.8 milland $6.5
million, respectively. As at December 31, 2013, dhsount due to SGR from the Company was $0.2 millio

Note 23. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events thtlbeiglate that the consolidated financial statesnerte issued,
and has concluded that no additional disclosuresegjuired in relation to events subsequent t#tence sheet date.
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Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial
Disclosure

None.

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation carried out as of the emldeoperiod covered by this report, under the sagen and with the
participation of our management, our Chief Exeautfficer and our Chief Financial Officer concludédt the
Company’s “disclosure controls and procedures’d@ged in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of theuSies
Exchange Act of 1934) were effective as of Decen3ie2013.

Management’'s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management, including the Chief Executive @ffiand the Chief Financial Officer, is responsibleestablishing
and maintaining adequate internal control overrfaia reporting (within the meaning of Rule 13aflbfder the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934). The Company'srimdl control over financial reporting is a procdssigned to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réfyabilfinancial reporting and the preparation imfancial statements
for external purposes in accordance with accourgimntriples generally accepted in the United StateSmerica.

Internal control over financial reporting includd®se policies and procedures that:

* pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaeasle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thensactions and
dispositions of our asse!

* provide reasonable assurance that transactione@sled as necessary to permit preparation ofidiab
statements in accordance with accounting princigégerally accepted in the United States of Ameaaitd tha
our receipts and expenditures are being made ordgdéordance with authorization of our managemedt a
directors; anc

» provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, os
disposition of assets that could have a materfatebn the consolidated financial stateme

Due to its inherent limitations, management doddmrbeve that internal control over financial regoay will prevent ot
detect all errors or fraud. In addition, projec8af any evaluation of effectiveness to future gasiare subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate becauskaniges in conditions, or that the degree of campé with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management, including the Chief Executive @ffiand the Chief Financial Officer, assessed tfec®@feness of
the Company’s internal control over financial repay as of
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December 31, 2013. In making this assessment, reareg used the criteria internal Control — Integrated
Framework (1992 issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrthe Treadway Commission (“COSQ”).

As of December 31, 2013, management excluded fteassessment of the effectiveness of the Companrtgisal
control over financial reporting as of December 3113, Chemsil's, Chemtec’s and Bachman'’s intecoatrol over
financial reporting associated with total asset$156.0 million and total revenues of $21.5 millionluded in the
consolidated financial statements of the Compargf asd for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Based on the evaluation our management, includied@hief Executive Officer and the Chief Finan€ticer,
concluded that the Company maintained effectiverirdl control over financial reporting as of Decem®1, 2013,
based on criteria imternal Control — Integrated Framework (199%sued by the COSO.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal corgkar financial reporting as of December 31, 2048 Ibeen audited
by KPMG Audit Plc, an independent registered puaticounting firm, as stated in their report whiglnicluded in
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reportng

The Company is continuously seeking to improvedtiieiency and effectiveness of its operations ahits internal
controls. This is intended to result in refinemdntprocesses throughout the Company. As previalistfosed, we are
continuing with the implementation of a new, compande, information system platform which begar?®il1. The
platform provider is well established in the marKiéte implementation is a phased, risk-managesl deiployment
following a multistage user acceptance program wighexisting platform providing a fallback positioNe
implemented the new platform at the majority of bug. sites in the third quarter of 2013. In coriwecwith this
implementation, the Company has updated its inteararols over financial reporting, as necessarygccommodate
modifications to its business processes and acicmuptocedures. As a consequence, none of the ebamigich were
identified in connection with the evaluation reguirtby paragraph (d) of Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15nthdeSecurities
Exchange Act of 1934, have materially affectedarerreasonably likely to materially affect, the Gamy’s internal
control over financial reporting.

ltem 9B Other Information
None.
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PART IlI

Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information set forth under the headings “Reekbn of Two Class Il Directors”, “Election of @rClass Il
Director”, “Information about the Board of Directgt “Information about the Executive Officers” aftfiection 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Complianda”the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting afcBholders to be he
on May 7, 2014 (“the Proxy Statement”) is incorgedaherein by reference.

The Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethasapplies to the Company’s directors, officaamd employees,
including the Chief Executive Officer, Chief FinaaoOfficer and Principal Accounting Officer. Anyogkholder who
would like to receive a copy of our Code of Ethiagy Corporate Governance Guidelines or any cleadeour Board’s
committees may obtain them without charge by wgitm the General Counsel and Chief Compliance éxffilnnospec
Inc., 8310 South Valley Highway, Suite 350, EngledoColorado, 80112, e-mail investor@innospecima.cbhese
and other documents can also be accessed via thpadg’s web site, www.innospecinc.com.

The Company intends to disclose on its websiteaamgndments to, or waivers from, its Code of Etthes are require
to be publicly disclosed pursuant to the ruleshef SEC or NASDAQ.

Information regarding the Audit Committee of theaBa of Directors, including membership and reqeisitancial
expertise, set forth under the headings “Corpdeéateernance — Board Committees — Audit Committeel ‘sudit
Committee Report” in the 2014 Proxy Statementeiporated herein by reference.

Information regarding the procedures by which staditers may recommend nominees to the Board otcidire set
forth under the heading “Corporate Governance +@&ammittees — Nominating and Governance Comriittethe
2014 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein byreefse.

Item 11 Executive Compensatior

The information set forth under the headings “ExeeuCompensation,” “Corporate Governance — Boasth@ittees —
Compensation Committee — Compensation Committegldaks and Insider Participation” and “Compensatio
Committee Report” in the Proxy Statement is incosped herein by reference.

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Relatec
Stockholder Matters

The information set forth under the heading “Infatran About our Common Stock Ownership”the Proxy Stateme
is incorporated herein by reference.
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Shares Authorized for |1 ssuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The information set forth in the table under thadieg “Equity Compensation Plans” in the Proxy &tagnt is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information set forth under the headings “Ger@ther Transactions and Relationships”, “Certather
Transactions Approval Policy” and “Corporate Gowarece — Director Independence” in the Proxy Statemsen
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Service

Information regarding fees and services relatatiécCompanys independent registered public accounting firmMG-
Audit Plc, is provided under the heading “Principatountant Fees and Services” in the Proxy Statéaued is
incorporated herein by reference. Information rdgey the Audit Committee’s pre-approval policiesigmocedures is
provided under the heading “Audit Committee Prerapal Policies and Procedures” in the Proxy Statdraad is
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
@ (1) Financial Statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements (includingsjoof Innospec Inc. and its subsidiaries, toge
with the report of KPMG Audit Plc dated February 2814, are set forth in Item
2 Financial Statement Schedules
Financial statement schedules have been omitted ey are either included in the finant
statements, not applicable or not requil
(3) Exhibits

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiotih® Company. (1
3.2 Amended and Restated -laws of the Company. (¢
10.1 Executive Service Agreement of Mr. PJ Boon dateteJy 2009. (3)°
10.2 Contract of Employment, lan McRobbie. (4
10.3 Contract of Employment, Dr. Catherine Hessher* (

10.4 Contract of Employment, Patrick Williams, dated @er 11, 2005, (6) and Executive Sen
Agreement dated April 2, 2009. (7

10.5 Contract of Employment, lan Cleminson, dated Juhe2806. (8) *
10.6 Innospec Inc. Performance Related Stock Option PO&8. (9) *
10.7 Innospec Inc. Company Share Option Plan 2008.

10.8 Innospec Inc. Non Employee Direct’ Stock Option Plan 2008. (9)
10.9 Innospec Inc. Sharesave Plan 2008. (1

10.10 Innospec Inc. Executive -Investment Stock Plan 2004, as amended by theAinsindment
(11) ~

10.11 $100,000,000 Multicurrency Revolving Facility Agreent dated December 14, 2011 with
Lloyds TSB Bank plc as agent and security age).

10.12 Contract of Employment, David E. Williams, dategp&enber 17, 2009. (13)

10.13 Letters dated December 1, 2010 from the Board céddors to the following officers regardil
one off bonus payments: Patrick Williams, lan Pn@tleson, Philip J Boon, lan McRobbie and
Brian Watt. (14) *

10.14 Reward for Exceptional Performance One off BonasPJanuary 200- December 2012. (15)
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10.15 Supplemental Agreement, dated August 28, 2013, grttmCompany, certain subsidiaries
the Company, and various lenders, including LIoy88 Bank Plc, as agent and security agent
(17)

12.1 Computation of Financial Ratios (filed herewit

14 The Innospec Inc. Code of Ethics (as updated).

16 Letter regarding change in certifying accountartedaune 17, 2011. (1

21.1 Principal Subsidiaries of the Registrant (fileddweith).

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriting, KPMG Audit Plc (filed herewith’

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of
2002 (filed herewith)

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of
2002 (filed herewith)

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuido Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of
2002 (filed herewith)

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer to S 906 of the Sarban-Oxley Act of 200z
(filed herewith).

101 XBRL Instance Document and Related Ite
Notes
(1)  Filed with the Compar’s Form 1K on March 16, 200€
(2)  Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-Q on May 10, 2011
(3) Filed with the Compar’s Form K on May 27, 2009
(4)  Filed with the Compar’s Form 1+-K on March 28, 200:
(5)  Filed with the Compar’s Form 1+-K on March 31, 200£
(6) Filed with the Compar’s Form K on October 12, 200!
(7)  Filed with the Compar’s Form K on April 3, 2009.
(8) Filed with the Compar’s Form K on June 30, 200t
(9)  Filed with the Compar’s Proxy Statement on April 1, 201
(20) Filed with the Compar’s Proxy Statement on March 31, 20
(11) Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-K on February 17, 201.
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(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)

Filed with the Compar’s Form K on December 19, 201
Filed with the Compar’s Form K on September 14, 200
Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-K on February 18, 201.
Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-Q on November 1, 201
Filed with the Compar’s Form K on June 17, 201:

Filed with the Compar’s Form K on August 29, 201:

* Denotes a management contract or compensatory
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the reaitthas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf byutidersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INNOSPEC INC. By: /s/ PATRICK S. WILLIAMS
(Registrant Patrick S. Williams
Date: President and Chief Executive Offic

February 13, 201

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the@tpa indicated as of February 13, 2014

/s/ MILTON C. BLACKMORE Chairman and Directc
Milton C. Blackmore

/s/ IAN P. CLEMINSON Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
lan P. Cleminsol

/s/ PHILIP A. CURRAN Group Financial Controller (Principal Accounti
Philip A. Curran Officer)

/sl HUGH G. C. ALDOUS Director

Hugh G. C. Aldou:

/s MARTIN M. HALE Director

Martin M. Hale

/s LAWRENCE J. PADFIELL Director

Lawrence J. Padfiel

/s/ ROBERT I. PALLEF Director

Robert I. Palle

/s/ JOACHIM ROESER Director

Joachim Roese
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EXHIBIT 12.1 - STATEMENT REGARDING COMPUTATION OF FINANCIAL RATIOS
(in millions except financial ratios, share and peshare data)

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
1. NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO INNOSPEC INC. ASA PERCENTAGE
OF SALES
A Net income attributable to Innospec | $ 77.¢8 66 $ 471 $ 69¢ $ 64
B Net sale $ 818.¢ 776..  $ 774« $683.2 $ 598.%
A % of B 9.5% 8.€% 6.1% 10.2% 1.1%
2. EFFECTIVE TAX RATE AS A PERCENTAGE
C Income taxe $ 15.C 262 $ 31 $ (43 $ 11c¢
D Income before income tay $ 92.¢ 932 $ 50z $ 65.€ $ 18.:
C%of D 16.2% 28.2% 6.2% -6.€% 65.(%
3. CURRENT RATIO
E Current asse $ 407.¢ 296.¢ $ 320. $ 321.¢ $ 282.¢
F Current liabilitie $ 155.¢ 147.:  $ 146.C $ 158.¢ $ 179.C
Ratio of Eto F 2.€ 2.C 2.2 2.C 1.€
4. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO INNOSPEC INC.
G Net income attributable to Innospec $ 77.8 66 $ 471 $ 69¢ $ 64
H Basic shares outstand 23,65: 23,18° 23,56¢ 23,75¢ 23,64
I Diluted shares outstandi 24,15¢ 23,85( 24,52( 24,81« 24,71«
G/H  Basicearnings per share attributable tm$pec Inc $ 3.2¢ 28¢ $ 20 $ 29/ $ 0.2i
G/ Dilutedearnings per share attributablénnospec Inc $ 3.22 281 $ 192 $ 28z $ 0.2¢

Shares in thousands, earnings per share attrileutalbhnospec Inc. in dollars.



EXHIBIT 21.1 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRA NT

Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (Switzerlar
Innospec Active Chemicals LLC (US,
Innospec Active Chemicals Limited (U.k
Innospec Deutschland GmbH (Germa
Innospec Developments Limited (U.k
Innospec Environmental Limited (U.K
Innospec Finance Limited (U.K
Innospec France SA (Franc

Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC (US
Innospec Fuel Specialties Limited (U.}
Innospec Holdings Limited (U.K
Innospec International Limited (U.K
Innospec Leuna GmbH (Germar
Innospec Limited (U.K.

Innospec Spain SL (Spai

Innospec Trading Limited (U.K
Innospec Widnes Limited (U.K
Novoktan GmbH (Germany

OBOAdler Company Limited (U.K.
Societa Italiana Additivi Per Carburanti S.r.la(it)
Innospec Oil Field Chemicals LLC (US,



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Innospec Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference, érdgistration statements (Nos. 333-131687, 333-324333-174050 and 333-174439) on
Form S-8 of Innospec Inc., of our report dated Baly 13, 2014, with respect to the consolidatedrizé sheets of Innospec Inc. and its
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 201 2thencklated consolidated statements of income, celngmsive income and accumulated
other comprehensive loss, cash flows and stocktsldquity for each of the years in the three-ymeniod ended December 31, 2013, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting as of December 31, 2013, which report appieethe December 31, 2013 annual repor
on Form 10-K of Innospec Inc..

Our report dated February 13, 2014, on the effentds of internal control over financial reportasgof December 31, 2013, contains an
explanatory paragraph that states that our audiitefnal control over financial reporting of Inpex Inc. excluded an evaluation of the inte
control over financial reporting of Chemsil Sili@minc. and Chemtec Chemical Co. which were acgj@ineAugust 30, 2013, and of Bachmar
Services Inc., Specialty Intermediaries Inc., BaghrRroduction Specialties Inc. and Bachman DrilenBroduction Specialties Inc. which
were acquired on November 4, 2013.

KPMG Audit Plc
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 13, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PATRICK S. WILLIAMS PURSUANT TO SE CTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Patrick S. Williams, certify that:

1.
2.

/sl

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, nisadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over foialhreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®es in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpzahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

PATRICK S. WILLIAMS

Patrick S. Williams
President and Chief Executive Officel

February 13, 201



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF IAN P. CLEMINSON PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, lan P. Cleminson, certify that:

1.
2.

Is/

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niaadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteikineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#y) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®es in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

IAN P. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 13, 201



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fdrmospec Inc. (the “Companyfpr the period ended December 31, 2012 as filed thi¢
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), |, Patrick S. Williams, Presideand Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135Gdpted pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxleyp#2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc
2) The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl PATRICK S. WILLIAMS

Patrick S. Williams
President and Chief Executive Officel

February 13, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350 and is not beirggfés part of this Report or as a separate
disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y 18 U.S.C. §1350 has been provided to the Caynpad will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosionisipon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fdrmospec Inc. (the “Companyfpr the period ended December 31, 2012 as filed thi¢
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), I, lan P. Cleminson, Executivec®¥ President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 ICS§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of thieaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc
2) The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl IAN P. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 13, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350 and is not beirggfés part of this Report or as a separate
disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y 18 U.S.C. §1350 has been provided to the Caynpad will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosiomsipon reques



